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Chairman’s Statement
EERBREFE

In 2023, with most of the major economies slowing down in growth,
“high inflation, high interest rate and meagre growth” were the most
talked about traits of the global economic environment. In China,
despite showing tremendous resilience and development potential,
her economy was under pressure from demand contracting, supply
side disruptions and weakening expectation. As the global supply
chain went through restructuring, China’s leadership in the global
supply chain was also challenged. The Chinese economy generally
slowed down with gross domestic product growth at 5.2% for the year.
Despite being affected by multiple unfavourable factors at home and
abroad, Chia Tai Enterprises International Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) — by formulating effective business
strategies, firmly upholding corporate values and striving for progress

on an even keel — were still able to take business forward.

On the biochemical business front, with society emphasising
more-and-more on high-quality development, the Chinese
government has continued to tighten livestock product quality
and safety, as well as environmental protection requirements of
the farming industry. Regulatory bodies have been adjusting and
improving policies relevant to the animal pharmaceutical industry,
with the aim of strengthening monitoring and raising the quality and
safety standard of animal pharmaceutical products. Such moves have
spurred animal pharmaceutical companies to enhance cost control
and increase investment in research and development. The Group
continued during the year to hire and train high-calibre talent and
direct resources into upgrading product technologies so as to bolster

its core competitiveness.

At the same time, the Group has pressed on with strategic
transformation to build up its animal health business, working towards
becoming a leading bio-technology company. In 2023, animal health
business achieved a major milestone, with revenue exceeding half of
that of the Group’s biochemical business for the first time. The Group
will actively explore new opportunities in this promising business

arena.
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In 2023, the Group, as always, actively honoured its social
responsibility by participating in an array of social welfare and
charitable events: caring for the underprivileged, supporting education
of poor students, sponsoring medical supplies, promoting greening,
etc. In the aspect of human resources, during the year, the Group
recruited a group of talent with high qualifications to undertake
research and development, as well as production and sales tasks,
allowing it to further improve manpower structure and staff quality.
Moreover, the Group also kept strengthening management of internal
procedures, as well as clarifying roles and responsibilities, in a bid
to improve efficiency and shore up strength in order to give a solid

foundation for the Group to achieve sustainable development.

Despite the challenging macro-economic environment, our ECI Metro
Investment Co., Ltd. benefited from demand for Caterpillar’s new
electric-driven loader models. These products, which meet China’s
tightened low carbon standards, were much welcomed by the market.
On the other hand, we are closely monitoring development of the
electric vehicle market in China, as we guide our investee Zhanjiang
Deni Vehicles Parts Company Limited.

Looking ahead, the Group expects the teetering economic recovery
and intensifying competition to bring uncertainties to its businesses.
Thus, we maintain an overall cautious view of our performance in
2024. Nevertheless, we will grasp opportunities in the market as it
progresses to normalcy, and continue to uphold our “Three Benefits
Principle” — benefiting the countries in which we operate, benefiting
the people whose community we share and benefiting the enterprises
for which we are responsible. We will abide by environmental laws
and regulations, tackle uncertainties in the operating environment
and work hard on meeting the requirements of high-quality
development, so as to ensure we are ready to realise our business

development aspirations in 2024.
Last but not least, my heartfelt thanks go to all employees for their

hard work and contribution and also to shareholders for their trust

and support.

Soopakij Chearavanont
Chairman

Hong Kong, 23 February 2024
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Financial Highlights
B E

(Unit: US$’000) (Hfr : FExT ) 2023 2022
Key Statement of Comprehensive Income Items FHEEmMKHEREH
Revenue KA 173,979 159,239
Gross Profit Ecy il 33,766 39,189
Profit/ (Loss) Attributable to Shareholders N/ Y |
of the Company (HE4R) 2,553 (6,677)
Basic and Diluted Earnings/ (Loss) Per Share FEREREA J B e )
(US cents)! (&) (3l ! 1.01 (2.64)
Key Statement of Financial Position Items FEMBERREREE
Property, Plant & Equipment W~ BB A 95,951 93,8417
Total Assets A% E 377,374 350,585
Total Bank Borrowings A8 ERAT A 3K 78,168 49,102
Issued Capital AT AR 25,333 25,333
Shareholders’ Equity JBE AL RE 25 228,430 230,850
Total Equity WE 35 28 %8 252,018 255,752
Revenue US$’000 Gross Profit US$’000
WA ETFT EF ExTFT
200,000 - 40000 1  39.189
173,979 33,766
159,239
150,000 - 30,000 -
100,000 A 20,000 o
50,000 10,000
0 0
2022 2023 2022 2023
Profit/(Loss) US$’000 Basic and US cents
Attributable 27T 17T Diluted 21|l
to Shareholders 10 000 - Earnings/(Loss) 4 -
of the Company Per Share
FNSI) TS 5000 - BREXK 5
EEER(BR) 2,553 #EER (E5E8) ) 1.01
0 || 0 I
-SYOOO ] l _2 ] l
6,67 2.64
-10,000 - ( L -4 ( )
2022 2023 2022 2023
Remarks i #k:

! Based on the profit for the year attributable to shareholders of the Company and the weighted average number of ordinary shares and

convertible preference shares in issue during the year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

GROUP RESULTS

The Group has two lines of business: biochemical business
and industrial business. The biochemical business focuses on
chlortetracycline (“CTC”) and animal health products, and is carried
on by Group subsidiaries. This business segment accounts for all of
the Group’s consolidated revenue. The industrial business comprises
the Group’s interests in its joint venture ECI Metro Investment Co.,
Ltd. (together with its subsidiaries, “ECI Metro”) and its associate
Zhanjiang Deni Vehicle Parts Co., Ltd. (together with its subsidiaries,
“Zhanjiang Deni”). The results of the Group’s industrial business are
incorporated in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income

as share of profits and losses of joint venture and associate.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group’s revenue increased
9.3% to US$174.0 million (2022: US$159.2 million). However,
overall gross profit margin decreased from 24.6% in 2022 to 19.4% in
2023 mainly due to a decrease in selling price of CTC products and an

increase in trading business which has a lower profit margin.

Profit attributable to shareholders of the Company was US$2.6
million (2022: loss of US$6.7 million). The turn from loss to profit
was mainly due to improved performance of our industrial business.
Share of profits and losses of ECI Metro improved from a loss of
US$9.0 million in 2022 to a profit of US$4.8 million in 2023.

Basic and diluted earnings per share were both 1.0 US cents (2022:
loss of 2.6 US cents). The Board of Directors of the Company resolved
not to declare a dividend for the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022:
Nil).
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEENMR DN

BUSINESS REVIEW

Biochemical

We generate our revenue mainly from the manufacture and/or sale
of CTC products (CTC Premix and CTC HCL) and animal health
products. CTC products are antibiotics used to prevent or cure animal
diseases. Our animal health products, on the other hand, are mainly
preventive drugs for livestock diseases. In the past few years, we have
been strategically broadening our product portfolio to cover related
veterinary products. Of these new offerings, some we manufacture
and sale, and some we source and trade. The Group’s major customers
include farms, pharmaceutical companies, trading companies and feed

mills.

In 2023, the Group’s revenue from the biochemical business increased
9.3% to US$174.0 million (2022: US$159.2 million). Our sales
mix changed in-line with our strategic business direction. Revenue
contribution from CTC products decreased from 53% in 2022 to 41%
in 2023, while revenue contribution from animal health products
increased from 47% in 2022 to 59% in 2023.

Average selling price of our CTC products decreased by 11% in 2023
when compared to that in 2022. Also, our asset-light trading business
— the expanding segment — has a lower profit margin relative to
our manufacturing business. As a result, overall gross profit margin
reduced from 24.6% in 2022 to 19.4% in 2023.

In-line with our strategic shift to animal health business, we
continued to deploy additional marketing resources to expand this
business segment. In aggregate, contribution from our biochemical
business declined in 2023.
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CHIA TAI ENTERPRISES INTERNATIONAL LIMITED
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Industrial

The Group’s industrial business is conducted through ECI Metro and
Zhanjiang Deni.

ECI Metro is principally engaged in the sale, leasing and servicing of
Caterpillar machinery equipment in western China. The excavator
market in China had been impacted by a decline in construction
machinery demand in the past few years. According to the China
Construction Machinery Association, excavator sales across the
entire market in 2023 recorded a 40.8% drop when compared to
that in 2022. Our market share in the small and medium-sized
construction machinery segment was also continuously challenged
by domestic Chinese brands. Nevertheless, revenue and gross profit
from sales of spare parts and services increased due to rising servicing
demand. Furthermore, machinery with new emission standards
generated higher gross profit margin. As a result, for the year ended
31 December 2023, our share of profits and losses of joint venture
improved from a loss of US$9.0 million in 2022 to a profit of US$4.8
million in 2023.

Zhanjiang Deni is principally engaged in the manufacture and sale of
automotive parts, which are mainly sold to automobile and motorcycle
manufacturers. According to the China Association of Automobile
Manufacturers, automobile sales in 2023 increased by 12.0% when
compared to that in 2022. On the other hand, according to China
Chamber of Commerce for Motorcycle, China motorcycle sales
in 2023 was 8.8% lower than that in 2022. For the year ended 31
December 2023, our share of profit of associate remained stable at
US$2.1 million (2022: US$2.1 million).

OUTLOOK

Looking forward, the pace of economic recovery and intensified
competition are expected to bring uncertainties to our biochemical
business. For our industrial business, fixed-asset investment growth in
2024 is expected to hover at a low level and competition is likely to

remain intense. Overall, we remain cautious for our performance in

2024.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEENMR DN

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had total assets of US$377.4
million, an increase of 7.6% as compared to US$350.6 million as at 31
December 2022.

Net debt (31 December 2023: US$40.6 million, 31 December 2022:
net debt US$18.2 million) to equity ratio (defined as total bank
borrowings minus cash divided by total equity) was 0.16 as compared

to 0.07 as at 31 December 2022.

All the borrowings of the Group are denominated in Renminbi
(“RMB”) as at 31 December 2023 and 2022.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s fixed interest rate bank
borrowings amounted to US$41.1 million (31 December 2022:
US$26.8 million).

All domestic sales in mainland China are transacted in RMB and
export sales are transacted in foreign currencies. The Group monitors
exchange rate movements and determines appropriate hedging

activities when necessary.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The Group finances its working capital requirements through a
combination of funds generated from operations and borrowings. The
Group had cash and cash equivalents of US$37.6 million as at 31
December 2023, an increase of US$6.7 million compared to US$30.8
million as at 31 December 2022.

CHARGES ON GROUP ASSETS

As at 31 December 2023, out of the total borrowings of US$78.2
million (31 December 2022: US$49.1 million) obtained by the Group,
US$21.7 million (31 December 2022: US$18.3 million) was secured
and accounted for 27.7% (31 December 2022: 37.3%) of the total
borrowings. Certain of the Group’s property, plant and equipment and
land lease prepayments with an aggregate net book value of US$33.8
million (31 December 2022: US$13.8 million) were pledged as

security.
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CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2023, the Group did not have any significant

contingent liabilities.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD, MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

Save for those disclosed in this annual report, there were no other
significant investments held nor material acquisitions or disposals

during the year.

EMPLOYEE AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 December 2023, the Group employed around 1,000
employees in the PRC and Hong Kong. The Group remunerates its
employees based on their performance, experience and prevailing
market conditions while performance bonuses are granted on a
discretionary basis. Other employee benefits include, for example,

medical insurance and training.
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BER LA

Corporate Governance Report

TRERBRS

Chia Tai Enterprises International Limited (the “Company”
and together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) is committed to
maintaining strict corporate governance standards. The principles of
these standards are to uphold a high standard of ethics, transparency,
accountability and integrity in all aspects of business and to ensure
that affairs are conducted in accordance with applicable laws and

regulations.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

The Company applied the principles and complied with the code
provisions prescribed in the Corporate Governance Code as set out in
Appendix CI to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the
“Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) throughout the year 2023.

THE BOARD

(a) Board Composition

As at the date of this annual report, the board of directors of
the Company (the “Board”) comprises ten members, including
four executive directors, two non-executive directors and four

independent non-executive directors.

The biographical details of the directors of the Company (the
“Directors”) and the relationships among the Directors are set
out in the section headed “Biographical Details of Directors”

in this annual report.

(b) Chairman and Chief Executive

Mr. Soopakij Chearavanont is the Chairman of the Company.
Mr. Thirayut Phityaisarakul and Mr. Thanakorn Seriburi are
the Chief Executive Officers of the biochemical division and
the industrial division, respectively. The roles of the Chairman
and the Chief Executive Officers are distinct and separate
with a clear division of responsibilities. The Chairman is
responsible for overseeing the function of the Board while
the Chief Executive Officers are responsible for managing the

Group’s business.
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THE BOARD (continued)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Roles and Responsibilities

The Board, directly and through its committees, leads
and provides direction for the management by laying
down strategies and overseeing their implementation by
the management, reviews the operational and financial
performance, provides oversight to ensure that a sound system
of risk management and internal control is in place, and

performs corporate governance functions.

The non-executive Directors (including the independent
non-executive Directors) provide advisory as well as checks
and balances for effective and constructive contribution to
the Board to safeguard interests of the shareholders of the
Company (the “Shareholders”) and the Company as a whole.

The management is responsible for execution of business

strategies and dealing with day-to-day operations.
Independent Non-executive Directors

The Company has received from each of the independent
non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of his/her
independence in accordance with the independence guidelines
set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and considers that all

independent non-executive Directors are independent.

Ms. Cheung Marn Kay, a newly appointed director on 23
February 2024, obtained the legal advice under Rule 3.09D
of the Listing Rules on 2 February 2024 and confirmed she

understood her obligations as a director of a listed issuer.
Directors’ Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the Code of Conduct for Securities
Transactions, which is based on the required standard set
out in Appendix C3 of the Listing Rules - Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers, as the
code of conduct for dealings in the Company’s securities by
its directors. All Directors responded to a specific enquiry
by the Company and confirmed that they complied with the
required standard set out in the Code of Conduct for Securities

Transactions during 2023.
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TEEBRRSE

THE BOARD (continued)

)

(9)

Directors’ Training

During 2023, Mr. Soopakij Chearavanont, Mr. Thirayut
Phityaisarakul, Mr. Thanakorn Seriburi, Mr. Nopadol
Chiaravanont, Mr. Chawalit Na Muangtoun, Mr. Yoichi
Ikezoe, Mr. Surasak Rounroengrom, Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo
and Mr. Edward Ko Ming Tung participated in continuous
professional development through participation in trainings
organised by the Company, and review of regulatory update

provided by the Company.

General Meetings, Board Meetings and Board
Committee Meetings

During 2023, the Company held one annual general meeting,
one special general meeting, seven Board meetings, six Audit
Committee meetings, one Remuneration Committee meeting,
one Nomination Committee meeting and two Corporate

Governance Committee meetings.

The Directors are expected to devote sufficient time and
attention to perform their duties and responsibilities.
According to the bye-laws of the Company, Directors can
attend board meetings in person or by means of telephone,

electronic or other communication facilities.
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THE BOARD (continued)

(9)

General Meetings, Board Meetings and Board
Committee Meetings (continued)

The attendance of each Director at the meetings held in 2023

is set out in the following table:
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(99 BRAE ESERESEETHZEESET
& (%)

AP R % A
HOE %

No. of meetings attended/held

e VA-F Lite
Annual Special Corporate
General General Audit  Remuneration Nomination Governance
Meeting Meeting Board Committee Committee Committee Committee
i i {37 M e hEER
LN | VN | fEd | ZHE ZHE ZHE ZHE
Chairman and Non-executive FHRRFAGEF
Director
Mr. Soopakij Chearavanont!! g Ntk N 1N 5 - - 01 -
Executive Directors Hi##F
M. Thirayut Phityaisarakul® ARERLY il 0t N - - - -
Mr. Thanakorn Seriburi A N N 4 - 0 - -
Mr. Nopadol Chiaravanont ErINia N N 51 - - - N
Mr. Chawalit Na Muangtoun A I 11 m - - - N
Non-executive Director FHfES
Mr. Yoichi Tkezoe Ui N N o7 - - - -
Independent Non-executive BuAli#%
Directors
Mr. Surasak Rounroengrom'” Surasak Rounroengrom N N 1 /6 Il N -
Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo'¥ BimgL 1 111 1/ /6 11 11 -
Mr. Edward Ko Ming Tung” L) S in in m 66 in , i
Ms. Cheung Marn Kay® Eafto _ _ _ _ _ _ _
Notes: it
M Ceased to be the Chairman of the Nomination Committee on O] N2 IE_H = AFIELRARES
23 February 2024. B
@ Appointed as a member of the Nomination Committee on 23 @ REBDWNEZH T =HERELARLATES
February 2024. BH e

(3)

(4)

(5)

(6)

Appointed as the Chairman of the Nomination Committee
and ceased to be a member of the Remuneration Committee
on 23 February 2024.

Ceased to be a member of the Nomination Committee on 23
February 2024.

Ceased to be a member of the Remuneration Committee on 23
February 2024.

Appointed as an independent non-executive Director and a
member of the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee on 23 February 2024.
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THE BOARD (continued)

(h)

Accountability and Audit

The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and
understandable assessment of the Company’s performance in

the annual and interim reports.

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing
the financial statements, which should give a true and fair
view of the financial position, the financial performance and
cash flows of the Group in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards and the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. The statement
of the auditor of the Company about the Director’s
responsibilities on the financial statements of the Group is set
out in the section headed “Independent Auditor’s Report” in

this annual report.

The Board considers that, in preparing the financial
statements, the Group has applied appropriate accounting
policies that are adopted consistently and made judgements
and estimates that are reasonable, prudent and in accordance

with the applicable accounting standards.

The Directors confirm that, to the best of their knowledge,
information and belief, having made all reasonable enquiries,
they are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the

Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.
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THE BOARD (continued)

(i)

Dividend Policy

The Dividend Policy adopted by the Company is set out below:

The Dividend Policy sets out the approach of the

Company on the declaration and payment of dividends

to the Shareholders.

The Board is responsible for considering and, if
appropriate, declaring any interim dividend or
recommending any final dividend to the Shareholders
for approval every year. Any approved dividends must

not exceed the amount recommended by the Board.

The declaration or recommendation of any dividend
will take into consideration the Company’s results of
operations and financial conditions, business strategy
and future development and any other factors that
the Board may deem relevant. No dividend shall be
declared or paid except out of the Company’s profits
and reserves lawfully available for distribution. The
payment of dividend is also subject to applicable laws
and regulations, including any applicable restrictions

under the Company’s bye-laws.

Future declarations or recommendations of dividends
may or may not reflect the Company’s historical
declarations or recommendations of dividends and
will be at the absolute discretion of the Board. In
general, whilst the Company is in a growth stage,
the Board does not expect, in the absence of special

circumstances, to declare or recommend any dividend.

This Dividend Policy is subject to review by the Board
and may be amended by the Board.
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THE BOARD (continued)

1)

Corporate Culture and Strategy ()

The Group is principally engaged in the manufacture and/
or sale of chlortetracycline and animal health products.
Additionally, the Group is also involved, through its joint
venture and associated company, in the trading of machinery
and the manufacture and sale of automotive parts. We conduct

our business by upholding the Group’s six core values:

1. Three Benefits Principle: The Group has
always operated our business by adhering to the
‘Three-Benefits Principle’. This states that our business
should first benefit the countries where we operate;
then the communities we engage with and lastly the
company and employees. Since the founding days, this
principle has guided our growth and ensured that our

operations benefit the society as a whole.

2. Speed with Quality: Modern businesses must be
fast-moving, without compromising quality. They must
be able to adapt to new circumstances, adopt the latest
technologies, respond to both consumers’ changing
tastes and preferences, and evolving regulations.
As a result, the Group places great importance on
the efficiency and effectiveness of our business and

employees.

3. Simplification: The Group is committed to applying
technology and innovation that simplifies its systems
and operations while improving efficiency and
effectiveness across the entire Group. Simplification is
one of the key practices that has enhanced the Group’s

success.

4. Accept Changes: Global businesses face daily changing
circumstances — from political, socio-economic
and environmental issues to consumers’ needs and
technological development. Our key strategy is to
embrace changes. We encourage our employees to stay
informed of new opportunities so that we could deliver
more to our customers. This also helps us to manage the

evolving circumstances across all of our markets.
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THE BOARD (continued)

1)

Corporate Culture and Strategy (continued)

5. Innovation: Innovation drives every aspect of our
business from processes to products. Businesses must
constantly innovate to keep pace with a rapidly
changing world. We actively encourage our employees
to be innovative. Our goal is to foster innovation across
our business to deliver the best products and services to

our customers.

6. Integrity: Since the very first day of the Group, we have
operated our business with integrity and transparency
in every transaction — big or small. We firmly believe
that any business focusing solely on self-enrichment
and disregarding integrity will ultimately lose trust of

its stakeholders and ability to operate in the long run.

We operate our business ethically, manage our organisation
with transparency and accountability, and aim to create value
for all stakeholder groups. The Group not only aims to achieve
business growth but also to operate as a “good corporate
citizen” by conducting business responsibly and participating
in economic, social, and environmental development to create
benefits for society. This includes benefits for the country of
investment and citizens of that country, leading to sustainable
mutual growth of the Group and society. We believe that
conducting business in line with corporate governance
principles is the key foundation for ethical business practices,
leading to systematic and efficient management, as well
as enabling the Group to adapt to change and increase its
competitiveness. This results in good long-term performance
while creating value to society, the environment, and other
stakeholders, culminating in the business’ sustainable growth.
We, therefore, established the Anti-corruption Policy and
the Whistleblowing Policy to guide employees on working in
accordance with corporate governance principles and ethical

standards.

Taking into account the corporate culture in a range of
contexts, the Board considers that the culture and the purpose,

value and strategy of the Group are aligned.
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LEERRE

BOARD DELEGATION

The Board has delegated authority to the following four committees
which operate under defined terms of reference. The terms of
reference of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and
the Nomination Committee are available on the websites of the Stock

Exchange and the Company.

In order to comply with the Corporate Governance Code, the terms of
reference of the Remuneration Committee were revised and adopted
on 23 February 2023 to include the review and approval of matters
relating to share schemes under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

The attendance of each committee member at the committee

meetings held in 2023 is set out in this annual report.
(i) Audit Committee

The Audit Committee consists of three independent
non-executive Directors, Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo (Chairman),
Mr. Surasak Rounroengrom and Mr. Edward Ko Ming Tung.

The Audit Committee is delegated by the Board with the
primary responsibility to provide independent oversight of the
Group’s financial reporting, risk management and internal
control systems. The Audit Committee is provided with
sufficient resources, including support from the Internal Audit
Department, external auditor and management, to perform
its duties in reviewing the Group’s financial results, material

financial, operational and compliance controls.
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BOARD DELEGATION (continued)

U]

Audit Committee (continued)

The Audit Committee held six meetings during the year.
The following is a summary of the work done by the Audit
Committee in 2023:

o approved 2022 audit plan;

° reviewed the annual results for the year ended 31
December 2022 and recommended the Board to
approve the 2022 annual results and the related
financial information set out in the results

announcement and the annual report;

o reviewed the report from the external auditor to the
Audit Committee for the year ended 31 December

2022;
o approved the 2023 audit fee;
o reviewed the risk management update of the Group;
° reviewed the internal audit reports of the Group;
o reviewed the preliminary results for the three months

ended 31 March 2023 and recommended the Board
to approve the publication of the inside information

announcement;

o reviewed the preliminary results for the six months
ended 30 June 2023 and recommended the Board to
approve the publication of the inside information

announcement;

° reviewed the interim results for the six months ended
30 June 2023 and recommended the Board to approve
the 2023 interim results and the related financial
information set out in the results announcement and

the interim report;

° reviewed the report from the external auditor to the
Audit Committee for the six months ended 30 June
2023;
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BOARD DELEGATION (continued)

U]

Audit Committee (continued)

. reviewed the audit and non-audit services undertaken

by the external auditor;

° reviewed the effectiveness of the risk management and

internal control systems; and
o approved 2023 audit plan.

Subsequent to the 2023 year end, the Audit Committee
reviewed the annual results for the year ended 31 December
2023 and recommended the Board to approve the 2023 annual
results and the related financial information set out in the

results announcement and this annual report.

The Audit Committee is responsible for the appointment,
re-appointment and removal of the external auditor, and
the approval of the remuneration and terms of engagement
of the external auditor. To ensure the external auditor’s
independence, the Audit Committee reviewed the audit and

non-audit services undertaken by the external auditor in 2023.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the remuneration
paid by the Group to the external auditor is set out below:
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BOARD DELEGATION (continued)

(ii)

Remuneration Committee

In 2023, the Remuneration Committee consisted of three
independent non-executive Directors, Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo
(Chairman), Mr. Surasak Rounroengrom and Mr. Edward
Ko Ming Tung, and an executive Director, Mr. Thanakorn
Seriburi. On 23 February 2024, each of Mr. Surasak
Rounroengrom and Mr. Edward Ko Ming Tung ceased to be
a member of the Remuneration Committee and Ms. Cheung
Marn Kay was appointed as a member of the Remuneration
Committee. As at the date of this annual report, the
Remuneration Committee consists of two independent
non-executive Directors, Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo (Chairman)
and Ms. Cheung Marn Kay, and an executive Director,

Mr. Thanakorn Seriburi.

The Remuneration Committee is delegated by the Board
with the primary responsibilities to make recommendations
to the Board on remuneration policy and structure for the
directors as well as to consider and recommend to the Board
the remuneration packages of individual directors and senior

management.

The primary objective of the Remuneration Committee is
to ensure that the Company is able to attract, retain and
motivate high-caliber employees who are critical to the
success of the Company, thereby enhancing the value of the
Company to the Shareholders. The objective of the Company’s
Remuneration Policy (the “Remuneration Policy”) is to
maintain fair and competitive packages based on business

requirements and industry practices.

During 2023, the Remuneration Committee held a meeting
to consider and recommend to the Board the remuneration
package of Mr. Chawalit Na Muangtoun, an executive Director

and the remuneration proposal for 2024.

Subsequent to the 2023 year end, the Remuneration
Committee reviewed and recommended to the Board to
approve the director fee of Ms. Cheung Marn Kay, an
independent non-executive Director appointed on 23 February

2024.

Details of the remuneration of each Director are set out in

note 9 to the financial statements in this annual report.
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BOARD DELEGATION (continued)

(i)

(iii)

Remuneration Committee (continued)
Remuneration Policy

The Remuneration Policy is established and implemented to
support the strategies and long-term vision of the Group as
well as provide adequate incentive for Directors and employees
to pursue long-term growth and success of the Group. The
remuneration for the Directors and senior management
shall be determined and recommended by the Remuneration
Committee to the Board after giving due consideration of all
relevant factors including individual performance, duty and
responsibility, the Group’s performance, market conditions as
well as the compensation level for comparable positions among
other companies with similar businesses. The Remuneration
Policy shall be reviewed by the Board from time to time.

Nomination Committee

In 2023, the Nomination Committee consisted of a
non-executive Director, Mr. Soopakij Chearavanont
(Chairman) and two independent non-executive Directors,
Mr. Surasak Rounroengrom and Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo. On 23
February 2024, Mr. Soopakij Chearavanont ceased to be the
Chairman of the Nomination Committee, Mr. Cheng Yuk
Wo ceased to be a member of the Nomination Committee,
Mr. Surasak Rounroengrom was appointed as the Chairman
of the Nomination Committee and each of Mr. Thirayut
Phityaisarakul and Ms. Cheung Marn Kay was appointed
as a member of the Nomination Committee. As at the date
of this annual report, the Nomination Committee consists
of two independent non-executive Directors, Mr. Surasak
Rounroengrom (Chairman) and Ms. Cheung Marn Kay, and an
executive Director, Mr. Thirayut Phityaisarakul.

The Nomination Committee is delegated by the Board with
the primary responsibilities to formulate and implement the
Company’s Nomination Policy (the “Nomination Policy”)
and Board Diversity Policy (the “Board Diversity Policy”),
make recommendations to the Board on the selection of
any individual nominated for directorship and assess the
independence of independent non-executive Directors.

The non-executive Directors are appointed for a successive
term of one year. The independent non-executive Directors
are appointed for a successive term of three years. All Directors
are subject to retirement by rotation, but may offer themselves
for re-election at annual general meetings in accordance
with the Company’s bye-laws. According to the Company’s
bye-laws, at each annual general meeting of the Company, no
less than one-third of the Directors for the time being shall
retire from office by rotation, provided that every Director
shall be subject to retirement at an annual general meeting at
least once every three years.
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Nomination Committee (continued)

During 2023, the Nomination Committee held a meeting and
reviewed the diversity, structure, size and composition of the
Board, the independence of all independent non-executive
Directors and recommended to the Board to propose the
re-election of the retiring Directors to the Shareholders at the

annual general meeting in 2023.

Subsequent to the 2023 year end, the Nomination Committee
assessed the profile of Ms. Cheung Marn Kay with reference
to the Board Diversity Policy and the Nomination Policy and
recommended to the Board to approve her appointment as
an independent non-executive Director on 23 February 2024.
The Nomination Committee had also reviewed the diversity,
structure, size and composition of the Board, the independence
of all independent non-executive Directors and recommended
to the Board to propose the re-election of the retiring
Directors to the Shareholders at the annual general meeting in

2024.
Board Independence

The Company has established mechanisms to ensure
independent views and input are available to the Board. Such
mechanisms will be reviewed annually by the Board. In 2023,
the Board reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of
the following mechanisms and considered such mechanisms

remained effective and were properly implemented:

1. All our Independent Non-executive Directors are
independent of and not related to each other and any
members of the senior management. Also, Independent
Non-executive Directors forms a majority in our
Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and

Nomination Committee.

2. The roles of the Chairman and the Chief Executive
Officers are separate to ensure a balance of power and

authority.

3. Independent Non-executive Directors’ independence is

assessed annually.
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BOARD DELEGATION (continued)

(iif)

Nomination Committee (continued)
Board Independence (continued)

4. The Chairman of the Board will meet with the
Independent Non-executive Directors at least annually

without the presence of other Directors.

5. No equity-based remuneration with performance-
related elements will be granted to Independent

Non-executive Directors.

6. The Board and Board Committees members are
authorised to engage external advisors or consultants to
advise them on such issues as they consider necessary at

the Company’s expenses.
Board Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted the Board Diversity Policy to set out
the approach to achieve diversity in the Board. The Company
recognises and embraces the benefits of having a diverse board
to strengthen its effectiveness and governance. Selection of
candidates will be based on a range of diversity considerations,
which include but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service. The Nomination Committee,
in carrying out its duties, will also take into account the
Company’s corporate strategy and organisational needs.
Review on the implementation and effectiveness of the Board
Diversity Policy will be conducted annually by the Nomination
Committee and the Board.

During 2023, the Board reviewed the diversity, structure, size
and composition of the Board as well as the implementation
and effectiveness of the Board Diversity Policy for the year
2023. The Board considered that the Board Diversity Policy

remains effective.
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Nomination Committee (continued) (i) WEBEZEE(HE)
Board Diversity Policy (continued) E S-S A-EZRA & A
The Board is committed to achieving gender diversity on FHEGHHR BRI N EREEU RS
the Board level by having a non-single gender Board and by A E FR AL A H BB B OR B B 4T F 5
providing the Company with a good balance and diversity of 2 oAb W R f R B > 7F 5 35 0 T B B
skills and experience appropriate to the requirements of its Mk c TEEEREL _Z_NETH
business. The Board had set an initial target to appoint at least Z=t+—HZuHEMES LKW EFENY
one female Director by 31 December 2024 and has achieved HE . Mt HEEEESH LN _F
such target on 23 February 2024 when Ms. Cheung Marn Kay FECHTZHERT AR L IERITEFHK
was appointed as an independent non-executive Director. The BEIER  EEENEHEREEREGEA 4
Board targets to maintain at least the current level of female EBHANLHEREKRE RESEEREES
representation in the Board, and gender diversity is achieved PR Z ik - EHEEIGE B AALEFERHE
in respect of the Board. The Board will continue to review Bk s MR AR AL R -
its composition from time to time taking into consideration
specific needs for the Group’s business.
Details of the diversity, structure, size and composition of the EHHELZIAL - 228 AN ERAR B
Board are set out below: FNE :
Board Diversity Profile
EE NPT (4
Gender Male Female
T Sk Lk
Designation Executive Director Non-executive Director Independent Non-executive Director
Wk gy BT FPTHH WL I PAT
Age Group ’
AL 50-59 60-69 270
Expertise and Experience Management if;;‘:::i Legal
L8 JaiF bt A aitaam 5
Number of Directors
—— 1 2 3 4 6 7 8 9 10
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BOARD DELEGATION (continued)

(iif)

Nomination Committee (continued)
Board Diversity Policy (continued)

The Board is also committed to maintaining gender diversity
and equality on the workforce level. The Group is principally
engaged in the manufacture and/or sale of chlortetracycline
and animal health products. Due to the nature of the industry,
over 70% of our workforce are male. To encourage more
gender diversity in the workforce level, the Company plans to
increase the existing percentage of female workforce from 27%
to 30% in five years or by December 2027.

The total workforce by gender of the Company was disclosed
in the 2023 Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”)

report.
Nomination Policy

The Nomination Policy adopted by the Company is set out

below:

1 Purpose

1.1 The Nomination Committee of the Company
has the primary responsibility of identifying
and nominating suitably qualified candidates to
become Directors (to fill casual vacancies and as

new Board members).

1.2 The Nomination Policy sets out the approach
with respect to the selection and nomination
of candidates for directorship of the Company
so as to ensure that the Board has a balance of
skills, experience and diversity of perspectives
appropriate to the requirements of the
Company’s business for the Board to consider
and, if appropriate, appoint as additional
Directors or as Directors to fill casual vacancies,
as the case may be, or make recommendations
to the Shareholders for election as Directors at

general meetings.
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BOARD DELEGATION (continued)

(iif)

Nomination Committee (continued)

Nomination Policy (continued)

2 Selection Criteria, Eligibility and Documentary

Requirements

2.1

2.2

The Nomination Committee may select
suitably qualified candidates to nominate to the
Board from such resources as the Nomination
Committee considers appropriate, including
through referrals by members of the Board,
by the management of the Company and
by external professional agencies and other

resources.

The Nomination Committee shall consider the
factors listed below, together with any other
factors as the Nomination Committee may
consider appropriate, in assessing the suitability

of any candidate:

character, reputation and integrity;

- qualifications, accomplishments and

experience;

- capacity to devote sufficient time to
discharge duties amidst other significant

commitments;

- effect on the diversity of the Board,
including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and educational background,
professional and industry experience,

skills and expertise knowledge;

- ability to fulfil the independence
requirements under the Listing Rules
(where the proposed candidate is
being considered as candidate for an
Independent Non-executive Director

position); and

- potential contributions to the Board, and

any other relevant factors.
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BOARD DELEGATION (continued)
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Nomination Committee (continued)

Nomination Policy (continued)

2 Selection Criteria, Eligibility and Documentary

Requirements (continued)

2.2

2.3

(continued)

The list of factors stated above is for reference
only and not intended to be exhaustive or
definitive. The Nomination Committee shall
assess all relevant factors with a view to
achieve the Company’s corporate strategy and
organisational needs and has the discretion to

nominate any person as it considers appropriate.

The candidates shall timely provide such
information and documents relating to their
nomination as the Nomination Committee
or the Board may request, including but not
limited to any such information as is required
for disclosure under the Listing Rules and their
written consent to be elected as Directors and to

the public disclosure of their information.

3 Nomination Rules and Procedures

3.1

3.2

The Secretary of the Nomination Committee
shall call a meeting of the Nomination
Committee and in advance of the meeting
invite nomination of candidates from members
of the Board, if any, for consideration by the
Nomination Committee. The Nomination
Committee may put forward other candidates
irrespective of whether such candidates have

been nominated by members of the Board.

The Nomination Committee shall, upon receipt
of all necessary information relating to the
candidates, evaluate each of such candidates
at the meeting based on the criteria set out in
Section 2 above to determine whether to make

a nomination to the Board.
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BOARD DELEGATION (continued)

(iif)

Nomination Committee (continued)

Nomination Policy (continued)

Nomination Rules and Procedures (continued)

33 The number of candidates nominated by the
Nomination Committee may exceed the number
of casual vacancies or vacancies for Director’s
appointment by the Board or at the general
meeting.

3.4 The Board shall have the final decision on
all matters relating to the appointment of
candidates as Directors and its recommendation
of candidates to stand for election at any

general meeting.

3.5 Any proposed candidate is entitled to withdraw
his/her candidature at any time before
the meeting of the Board at which his/her
appointment is to be considered or the general
meeting at which he/she is to stand for election

by serving a notice in writing to the Company.
Confidentiality

Unless required by law or any regulatory authority,
under no circumstances may a member of the
Nomination Committee disclose any information to the
public with regard to any nomination or candidature
whilst such information has not been disclosed by the

Company to the public.
Review

The Nomination Committee will review this
Nomination Policy from time to time, as appropriate,
and discuss any revisions that may be considered
appropriate, including to ensure that it remains
relevant to the Company’s needs and reflects both
current regulatory requirements and good corporate
governance practice, and recommend them to the

Board for approval.
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(iv)

Nomination Committee (continued)

Nomination Policy (continued)

6 Disclosure of Policy

The Nomination Policy may be disclosed in such
manner as the Board considers appropriate and in
compliance with any applicable regulatory requirements

or guidelines.
Corporate Governance Committee

The Corporate Governance Committee consists of an
independent non-executive Director, Mr. Edward Ko Ming
Tung (Chairman) and two executive Directors, Mr. Nopadol

Chiaravanont and Mr. Chawalit Na Muangtoun.

The Corporate Governance Committee is delegated by
the Board with the primary responsibilities to review the
Company’s corporate governance policies and practices,
review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of directors, the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements,
the Company’s compliance with the Code of Conduct for
Securities Transactions, and its compliance with the Corporate

Governance Code.

During 2023, the Corporate Governance Committee held two
meetings to review, among others, the Company’s compliance
with the Corporate Governance Code for the year ended 31
December 2022 and for the six months ended 30 June 2023,
respectively. The Corporate Governance Committee also
reviewed the major ESG initiatives taken in the year 2022 and
in the six months ended 30 June 2023, the progress on the
2030 ESG targets and the 2022 ESG report.

Subsequent to the 2023 year end, the Corporate Governance
Committee reviewed the Company’s compliance with the
Corporate Governance Code for the year ended 31 December
2023. The Corporate Governance Committee also reviewed
the major ESG initiatives taken in 2023, the progress on the
ESG targets and the 2023 ESG report.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

Our Approach

The Group has established and adopted a Risk Management Policy
which is designed to manage the risk of failure associated with
the Group while achieving its business objectives and to provide
reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against material misstatement
or loss. A risk appetite statement has been established to define
the extent of risks that the Group is willing to take in pursuit of its

strategies and business objectives.

Clear roles and responsibilities are assigned to different levels of
management within the Group. The Board acknowledges that it is
responsible for the Group’s risk management and internal control
systems. The Board also (i) oversees the design, implementation and
monitoring of the risk management and internal control systems;
and (ii) evaluates and determines the nature and extent of risks it
is willing to take in achieving the Group’s business objectives. The
Board delegates the responsibility of reviewing the effectiveness of
the Group’s risk management and internal control systems to the
Audit Committee, which monitors the Group’s risk management and
internal control systems through the Internal Audit Department.
The Internal Audit Department carries out independent review of
significant risks (including ESG risks), key business processes and
controls. Key findings and recommendations for improvement are
regularly reported to the Audit Committee. The external auditor
also reports any control issues which have been identified in the
course of audit or review work to the Audit Committee. Management
is responsible for designing, implementing and monitoring risk
management and internal control systems, whereas risk owners
appointed by the management are responsible for identifying,
analysing and prioritising risk issues for further consideration by
management, and ensuring that the risk monitoring and control
system are working effectively and risk mitigation actions are

implemented timely within business units.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL (continued)

Effectiveness Review

In 2023, the Board, through the Audit Committee, conducted an
annual review of the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management
and internal control systems. The Board considers that the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group are effective
and adequate, and the internal audit function is effective and
adequate. No significant control failings or weaknesses had been
identified in 2023. The Board believes the Company has the ability
to adequately respond to changes in its business and the external
environment. The Board considers the Company’s processes for

financial reporting and Listing Rules compliance were effective.

The Board also considers that the Group has adequate resources,
staff qualifications and experience, training programmes and budget
for accounting, internal audit, financial reporting functions as
well as those relating to our environmental, social and governance

performance and reporting.
Continuous Improvement

We are committed to improving our risk management and internal
control framework and will continue to enhance the integration of

risk management and internal control into our business process.

For handling and dissemination of inside information, an Inside
Information Handling Policy is in place to enable the Group to
handle inside information in accordance with relevant requirements
and, where required, communicate with the Group’s stakeholders in a

timely manner.
Whistleblowing Policy

We are committed to high probity standards and ethical business
practices and believe that a whistleblowing system can help to detect
and deter misconduct or malpractice in the Group. The Company
has formulated the Whistleblowing Policy in accordance with the
requirements of the Stock Exchange. The Whistleblowing Policy
was approved and adopted by the Board, with the authority and
responsibility being delegated to the Audit Committee. Detail of the
Whistleblowing Policy is available on the website of the Company.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL (continued)

Anti-corruption Policy

We are committed to doing business with integrity. The Company
has formulated the Anti-corruption Policy in accordance with the
requirements of the Stock Exchange. The Anti-corruption Policy
was approved and adopted by the Board, with the authority and
responsibility being delegated to the Audit Committee. Detail of the

Anti-corruption Policy is available on the website of the Company.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Convening a Special General Meeting by Shareholders

In accordance with the Company’s bye-laws, the Board may, whenever
it thinks fit, convene a special general meeting, and special general
meetings shall also be convened on requisition, as provided by the
Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as the same may from time to
time be amended) (the “Companies Act”), and, in default, may be

convened by the requisitionists.

Pursuant to the Companies Act, at the date of the deposit of the
requisition, members holding not less than one-tenth of the paid-up
capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general
meetings of the Company can submit a written requisition to the

Board for convening a special general meeting.

The requisition must state the purposes of the meeting, and must be
signed by the requisitionists and deposited at the registered office of

the Company.

If the Board fails to convene a meeting within twenty-one days from
the date of the deposit of the requisition, the requisitionists, or any
of them representing more than one half of the total voting rights of
all of them, may themselves convene a meeting, but any meeting so
convened shall not be held after the expiration of three months from

the date of the deposit of the written requisition.

Such meeting convened by the requisitionists shall be convened in
the same manner as that in which meetings are to be convened by
the Board. At least fourteen clear days’ notice in writing (and not less

than ten business days) shall be given to all members of the Company.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS (continued)

To Make Enquiry to the Board

The Shareholders can make enquiry to the Board by writing to the

Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong.
To Put Forward Proposals at General Meetings

Pursuant to the Companies Act, any number of members of the
Company representing not less than one-twentieth of the total voting
rights of all the members having at the date of the requisition a right
to vote at the meeting to which the requisition relates, or not less
than one hundred members, can submit a written requisition to the

Board for putting forward proposals at general meetings.

The requisition must state the resolution with a statement of not more
than one thousand words with respect to the matter referred to in
the proposed resolution or state the business to be dealt with at that

meeting, and the requisition must be signed by the requisitionists.

The requisition must be deposited at the registered office of the
Company no less than six weeks before the meeting in the case
of the requisition requiring notice of a resolution or no less than
one week before the meeting in case of any other requisition. The
requisitionists must deposit a sum of money reasonably sufficient to
meet the Company’s expenses in serving the notice of the resolution

and circulating the statement to all members of the Company.
To Propose a Person for Election as a Director

Members of the Company (other than the person to be proposed) who
are qualified to attend and vote at general meetings of the Company
can submit a written requisition to the Board to propose a person for

election as a director of the Company at a general meeting.

The requisition must be signed by the requisitionists and deposited,
with a notice signed by the nominated candidate of his/her willingness
to be elected and the candidate’s information required to be disclosed
under Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules and a written consent from
the nominated candidate to the publication of his/her personal data,
at the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong no earlier
than the day after the despatch of the notice of the general meeting at
which the candidate is proposed for election, and ending no later than

seven days prior to the date of such general meeting.

Detail of the Procedures for a Shareholder to Propose a Person for

Election as a Director is available on the Company’s website.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

Communication with Shareholders

The Company has established a number of channels for maintaining
an on-going dialogue with its Shareholders and in the following ways:
(i) Convening Shareholders’ meetings where Shareholders could
communicate directly with the Board;

(ii)  Information of the Company would be communicated to
Shareholders in a timely manner through the publication of
the Company’s corporate communications including interim
and annual reports and circulars; and

(iii)  All of the Company’s corporate communications are available

on the Company’s website which is updated regularly.

The Board has established a Shareholders Communication Policy
setting out the principles in relation to communication with the
Shareholders, with the objective of maintaining full, open and
timely communication with the Shareholders. Review on the
implementation and effectiveness of the Shareholder Communication

Policy will be conducted annually by the Board.

In 2023, the Board reviewed the implementation and effectiveness
of the Shareholder Communication Policy. Having considered the
multiple communication channels in place for Shareholders to
communicate their views on various matters affecting the Company,
the Board was satisfied that the Shareholder Communication Policy

has been properly implemented during 2023 and was effective.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During 2023, the amended bye-laws of the Company was adopted at
the annual general meeting held on 9 June 2023 in order to bring the
bye-laws in line with the Core Shareholder Protection Standards set
out in Appendix Al to the Listing Rules, together with other minor
housekeeping amendments. For details of the amendments, please

refer to the circular of the Company dated 26 April 2023.

Save as disclosed above, there was no other amendment to the
Company’s constitutional documents during 2023. An up-to-date
consolidated version of the Company’s constitutional documents are

available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.
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Biographical Details of Directors

EEREREFB

Mr. Soopakij Chearavanont, aged 59, has been the Chairman and a
Non-executive Director of the Company since September 2014 and
was the chairman of the Nomination Committee from September
2014 to February 2024. Mr. Chearavanont is a director of several
subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Chearavanont has extensive
multinational investment and management experience in various
industries. Mr. Chearavanont is the chairman of Charoen Pokphand
Group Company Limited and holds directorships in the following
listed companies: a director and the chairman of CP ALL Public
Company Limited and Charoen Pokphand Foods Public Company
Limited (companies listed on the Stock Exchange of Thailand); a
non-executive director of Ping An Insurance (Group) Company
of China, Ltd. (a company listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and the Shanghai Stock Exchange);
and an executive director and the chairman of C.P. Pokphand Co.
Ltd. (which was listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited until its withdrawal from listing in January 2022).
Mr. Chearavanont was previously a director of True Corporation
Public Company Limited (a company listed on the Stock Exchange of
Thailand). Mr. Chearavanont obtained a Bachelor of Science degree
from the College of Business and Public Administration of New York
University, USA.

Mzr. Thirayut Phityaisarakul, aged 81, has been the Chief Executive
Officer (Biochemical Division) and an Executive Director of the
Company since September 2014 and a member of the Nomination
Committee since February 2024. He is also a director of several
subsidiaries of the Company and a senior vice chairman of Charoen
Pokphand Group Company Limited. Mr. Phityaisarakul has extensive

management experience in a wide range of industries.
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Mr.
Company since February 1988 and an Executive Director, Chief

Thanakorn Seriburi, aged 78, has been a Director of the

Executive Officer (Industrial Division) and a member of the
Remuneration Committee since September 2014. He is a director of
several subsidiaries of the Company and a senior vice chairman of
Charoen Pokphand Group Company Limited. Mr. Seriburi has been
working on investment projects for Charoen Pokphand Group in the
PRC since 1979 and has extensive experience in industrial operations

in Asia and elsewhere.

As disclosed in detail previously (including in the listing document
published by the Company on 17 June 2015 in connection with the
listing of its entire issued share capital on the Main Board of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited), Mr. Phityaisarakul and
Mr. Seriburi, then executive directors of C.P. Pokphand Co. Ltd.
(“CPP”), were censured in 1999 by the Listing Committee of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited for acting in breach of their
undertakings (i) to comply to the best of their ability with the Listing
Rules (as they stood at that time) and to use their best endeavours
to procure that CPP would so comply; and (ii) to procure that CPP
would comply with the relevant provisions in the listing agreement
between CPP and the Stock Exchange which subsisted at that time
in respect of certain connected transactions of CPP. For details of the
censure and the breaches, please refer to the news release published by
the Stock Exchange on 3 May 1999 and the listing document referred
to above.

Mr. Nopadol Chiaravanont, aged 62, has been a Director of the
Company since July 2014, an Executive Director of the Company
since September 2014 and a member of the Corporate Governance
Committee since December 2017. He is a director of several
subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Chiaravanont is also an assistant to
the chairman of Charoen Pokphand Group Company Limited, vice
chairman of the automotive and industrial business group (China) of
Charoen Pokphand Group Company Limited and a director of CPPC
Public Co., Ltd.

Mr. Chawalit Na Muangtoun, aged 57, has been an Executive
Director of the Company and a member of the Corporate Governance
Committee since February 2019. He is currently a senior executive
of the Group primarily responsible for the management of the
Group’s biochemical business in China. Mr. Na Muangtoun also
holds directorships in several companies within the Group. Mr. Na
Muangtoun has been working for the Group since 1992. Mr. Na
Muangtoun received a Bachelor degree in Accounting from Payap
University in Thailand in 1989.
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Mr. Yoichi Ikezoe, aged 64, has been a Non-executive Director of
the Company since October 2015. Mr. Ikezoe is also a non-executive
director of C.P. Pokphand Co. Ltd. (which was listed on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited until its
withdrawal from listing in January 2022). Mr. lkezoe is currently
Senior Adviser/Executive Adviser of ITOCHU Hong Kong Ltd. He
is also a director of Yamato Industry Co., Ltd. (a company listed on
the Tokyo Stock Exchange). Mr. Ikezoe had been Deputy CEO for
East Asia Bloc of ITOCHU Corporation (a company listed on the
Tokyo Stock Exchange) and Chairman of ITOCHU Hong Kong
Ltd., ITOCHU Shanghai Ltd. and ITOCHU (China) Holding Co.,
Ltd. for two years beginning in 2021. Mr. Ikezoe has been working
for ITOCHU Corporation (formerly known as C.ITOH & Co., Ltd.)
since 1983. He received a Bachelor of Arts degree from the Faculty of
Foreign Studies, Osaka University in Japan in 1983.

Mzr. Surasak Rounroengrom, aged 70, has been an Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company and a member of the
Audit Committee since September 2014, the chairman of the
Nomination Committee since February 2024 and was a member
of the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee
from September 2014 to February 2024. Mr. Rounroengrom is also
an independent director and the chairman of Ekachai Medical Care
Public Company Limited (a company listed on the Stock Exchange of
Thailand). Mr. Rounroengrom had a long career with the Royal Thai
Navy and was the 48th Commander-in-Chief of the Royal Thai Navy
from October 2011 to September 2013 before he retired from the Thai
armed forces. He was the Supreme Commander Advisor from January
2014 to September 2014 and was a National Legislative Assembly
Member from August 2014 to May 2019. Mr. Rounroengrom obtained
a Bachelor of Science degree from the Royal Thai Naval Academy,
Thailand, in February 1977.
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Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo, aged 63, has been an Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company, the chairman of the Audit
Committee and the Remuneration Committee since September 2014,
and was a member of the Nomination Committee from September
2014 to February 2024. Mr. Cheng has over 30 years of expertise in
accounting, finance and corporate advisory services. Mr. Cheng is
currently also an independent non-executive director of the following
companies listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited: CSI Properties Limited, CPMC Holdings Limited, Top
Spring International Holdings Limited, Liu Chong Hing Investment
Limited, Miricor Enterprises Holdings Limited, Kidsland International
Holdings Limited and China Renewable Energy Investment Limited.
Mr. Cheng is also an independent non-executive director of Somerley
Capital Holdings Limited (a company listed on the GEM Board
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited). Mr. Cheng was
previously an independent non-executive director of DTXS Silk
Road Investment Holdings Company Limited (a company listed on
the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited),
Goldbond Group Holdings Limited (a company listed on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited until its listing
was cancelled with effect from 2 August 2021), C.P. Pokphand
Co. Ltd., Chong Hing Bank Limited and HKC (Holdings) Limited
(companies listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited until their withdrawal from listing in January
2022, September 2021 and June 2021, respectively). Mr. Cheng
obtained a Bachelor of Arts (Honours) degree in Accounting from
the University of Kent, the United Kingdom in 1983 and a Master
of Science (Economics) degree, majoring in Accounting and Finance
from the London School of Economics and Political Science, the
United Kingdom in 1984. He is a Fellow of the Institute of Chartered
Accountants in England and Wales, the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants, and the Institute of Chartered

Professional Accountants of Canada.
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Mr. Edward Ko Ming Tung, aged 63, has been an Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company and a member of the Audit
Committee since September 2014, the chairman of the Corporate
Governance Committee since December 2017, and was a member of
the Remuneration Committee from September 2014 to February 2024.
Mr. Ko is the principal of Messrs. Edward Ko & Company and has
been practising as a solicitor in Hong Kong for more than 30 years.
Mr. Ko is currently also an independent non-executive director of the
following companies listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited: Sinofert Holdings Limited and EverChina Int’l
Holdings Company Limited. In addition, Mr. Ko has been appointed
as an independent non-executive director of China Vered Financial
Holding Corporation Limited with effect from 22 March 2024.
Mr. Ko was previously an independent non-executive director of Wai
Chun Group Holdings Limited and Sterling Group Holdings Limited
(companies listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited). Mr. Ko obtained an external Bachelor of Laws Degree
from the University of London in the United Kingdom in 1986 and is
a member of The Law Society of Hong Kong.

Ms.

Non-executive Director of the Company and a member of the

Cheung Marn Kay, aged 56, has been an Independent

Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee since
23 February 2024. Ms. Cheung is currently the vice chairman of
CrossGate Advisors Limited. Prior to her current role, Ms. Cheung
was the Managing Director of BlackRock Asset Management North
Asia Limited, a subsidiary of BlackRock, Inc. (NYSE: BLK), from
1999 to 2012. Ms. Cheung obtained a Bachelor of Arts degree
from the University of British Columbia in 1992. Ms. Cheung is
presently the Treasurer of Council and Court member of the Lingnan
University and a member of The HKSAR Standing Committee on
Disciplined Services Salaries and Conditions of Service. Previously,
Ms. Cheung was a member of the Advisory Committee of the Hong

Kong Securities and Futures Commission.

RELATIONSHIPS AMONG DIRECTORS

Mr. Soopakij Chearavanont is a cousin of Mr. Nopadol Chiaravanont.
Mr. Thirayut Phityaisarakul and Mr. Thanakorn Seriburi are brothers.
Save as disclosed above, there is no other material relationship among

members of the Board.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Various businesses and functions of the Company are respectively
under the direct responsibilities of the Executive Directors who are

regarded as senior management of the Company.
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The Directors present their report together with the audited financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Group is principally engaged in the manufacture and/or sale of
chlortetracycline (“CTC”) and animal health products. Additionally,
the Group is also involved, through its joint venture and associated
company, in the trading of machinery and the manufacture and sale of

automotive parts.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A business review with financial key performance indicators analysis
and future development of the Group is set out in the sections headed

» o«

“Chairman’s Statement”, “Financial Highlights” and “Management

Discussion and Analysis” in this annual report.

The principal risks and uncertainties faced by the Group, a discussion
on the environmental policies and performance, compliance with laws
and regulations and the key relationships with stakeholders are set out

below.

For further information about the environmental and social
performance of the Group for this financial year, please refer to the
2023 ESG report.

Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Directors are not aware of
any important event affecting the Group since the end of the financial

year under review.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties

Principal risks and uncertainties faced by the Group are discussed
below. Details of the Group’s financial risk management are set out in

note 33 to the financial statements in this annual report.

Market Competition

The Group faces intense competition from other producers of CTC
and animal health products. New players may also enter the market,
competing with the Group for our existing clients and negatively

impacting the Group’s market share.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Principal Risks and Uncertainties (continued)
Volatility of Commodity Prices

The availability and prices of the necessary raw materials of CTC and
animal health products may be adversely affected by factors beyond
the Group’s control, such as weather conditions, natural disasters or a

sudden surge in demand.

If the supply of raw materials is disrupted to a material degree or if
there is a substantial increase in the prices of raw materials, and the
Group is not able to purchase the same raw materials of the same
quality from alternative suppliers at competitive prices or to transfer
such material price increase to customers, the Group’s financial
condition and operating results may be materially and adversely
affected. Management will set a safety stock level and continuously
collect and analyse the commodity prices information when

purchasing these raw materials.
Product Liability

If the Group’s products fail to perform as expected, or prove to
be defective or result in accidents, personal injuries, casualties or
financial losses to customers, the Group may be subject to liability
claims for damages. If products do not meet the specifications and
requirements requested by customers, or if any of the Group’s products
are defective, such defects or any complaints or negative publicity
resulting therefrom could result in decreased sales of the Group’s
products, and the Group may also be subject to product liability claims
and litigation. The Group’s internal quality control team oversees
quality assurance controls and systems throughout the production

process.
Licenses and Permits

In accordance with applicable PRC laws and regulations, the Group
is required to obtain and maintain various licences and permits in
order to commence and operate our business. In addition, in order to
export and sell CTC products overseas, the Group needs to obtain
various government approvals and comply with applicable standards
in relation to production processes, premises and CTC products in the

countries where the Group sells CTC products.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Principal Risks and Uncertainties (continued)
Licenses and Permits (continued)

Although the Group currently has the necessary licences and permits,
the eligibility criteria for such licences and permits may change
from time to time and may become more stringent. In addition, new
requirements for the grant or renewal of such licences and permits
may come into effect in the future. The introduction of any such new
and/or more stringent laws or regulations may significantly escalate
the compliance and maintenance costs or may limit or even prohibit
the Group to continue its existing operations or expand its business.
Management continuously keeps abreast of regulatory changes in the

relevant laws and regulations on licenses and permits.
Disease Outbreak

Any animal disease outbreak, such as bird flu and African swine fever,
may cause widespread animal death, and hence would affect demand
for our products and results of the Group. Further, any human disease
outbreak, such as COVID-19, may also disrupt the Group’s business,
including delay in raw material supply, workforce availability due
to people movement restrictions and outbound logistical delays in
our delivery of products to customers. The Group will monitor the
situation and adopt appropriate measures to minimize the impact on

the Group’s business and operation.
Environmental Compliance

Our CTC production is required to comply with applicable
environmental protection laws and regulations in the PRC which
govern the standards of air pollution, waste water discharge and
noise emissions. Local PRC government and authorities generally
have the authority delegated by relevant laws and regulations to
impose penalties on companies failing to comply with the relevant

environmental protection laws and regulations.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Principal Risks and Uncertainties (continued)
Environmental Compliance (continued)

In addition to the existing environmental protection laws and
regulations, the PRC government may promulgate new and stricter
environmental protection laws and regulations in the biochemical
industry in the future which may apply to the Group. As a result,
compliance with such legal requirements will become more
burdensome and we may incur additional costs in production process
and operations, which may ultimately adversely affect production
and results of operations. The Safety, Health and Environmental
Committee of the Group oversees relevant environmental policies

affecting the Group’s operations.
Reliance on Key Products

Sales of CTC products account for a significant portion of the Group’s
revenue. Any factors adversely affecting the pricing of, demand for,
consumer preferences for, regulatory requirements of, or market
acceptance of CTC products, including any increase in competition,
change in government regulatory requirements, negative findings or
publicity on the effects of CTC products, could cause the Group’s
revenue to decline and the Group’s business and future operating

results to suffer.
Environmental Policies and Performance

The Group cares about environmental protection. We have
devoted significant operating and financial resources to ensure
that our production complies with environmental protection laws
and regulations in the PRC. In 2023, there was no incidence of
non-compliance with the relevant environmental laws and regulations

that have a significant impact on the business of the Group.
Compliance with Laws and Regulations

The Group strives to comply in all material aspects with the relevant
laws and regulations which are regarded as having a significant impact
on the Group, and has not come across incidence of material breach

or non-compliance during 2023.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Key Relationships with Stakeholders
Employees

We highly value our talents and are committed to providing a safe
work environment to our employees. The Group remunerates its
employees based on their performance, experience and prevailing
market rates while performance bonuses are granted on a discretionary
basis. Other employee benefits include, for example, medical
insurance and training. We also ensure our recruitment policies are in
compliance with national regulations in the areas of equal opportunity

and anti-discrimination.

We have in place safety guidelines and operating manuals setting
out safety measures for the production processes. In accordance
with applicable laws and regulations in the PRC, we provide our
employees with training programs on work safety including trainings
on safe usage of chemicals and machineries, accident prevention and
management. We also conduct regular inspections on our machineries

to ensure compliance with safety standards.
Customers

We strive to provide products of the highest quality to our customers.
Our operations are certified with ISO 9001, GMP and we have
stringent internal quality control procedures in place. We have set
up our own laboratories to conduct product testing as part of our
internal quality assurance. To monitor our customers’ satisfaction, the
Group’s sales teams listen to customers’ needs and opinions. With the
continuous feedback from our customers, we will continue to improve

our product and service qualities.
Suppliers

The Group has set up supplier management policies in accordance
with the laws and regulations in the PRC to monitor the supplier
selection process. The quality of incoming materials is ensured under a
well-established control process in our production plants. We carefully
choose suppliers that share the same commitment to product quality
and work ethics with us. In our procurement process, suppliers are
evaluated based on a number of assessment criteria, including their
service quality, environmental and social performances, and ability to
supply high-quality products on a consistent basis. We also perform
on-site inspections of suppliers as and when necessary to ensure our

requirements are met.
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RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group’s financial performance for the year ended 31 December
2023 and the financial position of the Group at that date are set out

in the financial statements in this annual report.

The Board has resolved not to declare a dividend for the year ended
31 December 2023.

The register of members holding ordinary shares of the Company will
be closed from 4 June 2024 to 7 June 2024, both days inclusive, during
which period no transfer of ordinary shares of the Company will be
registered. In order to ascertain the Shareholders’ eligibility to attend
and vote at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company
to be held on 7 June 2024, all transfer forms for ordinary shares
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with
the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Computershare
Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at Shops 1712-1716, 17th
Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong
Kong for registration before 4:30 p.m. on 3 June 2024.
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SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The consolidated assets, liabilities and results of the Group for the
five years ended 31 December 2023, as extracted from the published

audited financial statements, are as follows:
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MEBE#RL)WT

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
“FEE SRS SRS F CRC%E S0k
US$°000 US$000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000
RETH  EETE  EETE  ELTE  ELTE

s —

Total assets Mg 377,374 350,585 365,216 330,698 292,657
Total liabilities LA 125,356 94,833 81,693 80,088 70,244
Non-controlling interests FEd il 1 25 23,588 24,902 30,464 22,611 23,224
Equity attributable to shareholders A/ v Jit M £ i 25

of the Company 228,430 230,850 253,059 227,999 199,189

377,374 350,585 365,216 330,698 292,657

Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to A 7] B R A ACAE JEE
shareholders of the Company A/ () 2,553 (6,677) 8,532# 16,255 15,800
* Excluding gain on factory relocation of US$11,032,000. * LA W B I 5 1,103. 28 9ET8 ©

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in note 14

to the financial statements in this annual report.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in issued shares of the Company during the
year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in note 29 to the financial

statements in this annual report.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
bye-laws or the laws of Bermuda which would oblige the Company to

offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing Shareholders.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

During 2023, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries have

purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group
during the year are set out in note 34 to the financial statements and
the consolidated statement of changes in equity in this annual report,

respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

At 31 December 2023, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution amounted to US$18,519,000 (2022: US$17,124,000).

DONATIONS

During the year, the Group made donations for charitable and other
purposes amounting to US$10,000 (2022: US$91,000).

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

Purchases attributable to the five largest suppliers accounted for less
than 30% of the Group’s purchases for the year ended 31 December
2023.

Revenue attributable to the largest customer and the five largest
customers accounted for 29% and 42%, respectively, of the Group’s
revenue for the year ended 31 December 2023. The largest customer
was High Orient Enterprises Limited (“HOEL”), its subsidiaries and
other associates of Charoen Pokphand Group Company Limited
(“CPG”) but excluding C.P. Pokphand Co. Ltd. (“CPP”) and its
subsidiaries (the “CPP Group”). HOEL is an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of CPG, a substantial shareholder of the Company.

Further, one of the five largest customers was CPP Group. CPP is
held as to 75% and 25% respectively by Charoen Pokphand Foods
Public Company Limited and ITOCHU Corporation, both substantial
shareholders of the Company.

Saved as disclosed above, none of the Directors, their close associates
or the Shareholders (which to the knowledge of the Directors own
more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had any interest

in the Group’s five largest customers.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year ended 31 December 2023 and up to the

date of this report were:

CHAIRMAN AND NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR:
Mr. Soopakij Chearavanont

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS:

Mr. Thirayut Phityaisarakul
Mr. Thanakorn Seriburi

Mr. Nopadol Chiaravanont
Mr. Chawalit Na Muangtoun

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR:
Mr. Yoichi Ikezoe
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS:

Mr. Surasak Rounroengrom

Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo

Mr. Edward Ko Ming Tung

Ms. Cheung Marn Kay (appointed on 23 February 2024)

All non-executive Directors and independent non-executive Directors
are appointed for a successive term of one year and three years,
respectively. All Directors are subject to retirement by rotation, but
may offer themselves for re-election at annual general meetings in

accordance with the Company’s bye-laws.

In accordance with the Company’s bye-law 102(B), Ms. Cheung Marn
Kay, who was appointed as an independent non-executive Director
by the Board on 23 February 2024, will retire and, being eligible and
willing, will offer herself for re-election at the forthcoming annual

general meeting of the Company.

In accordance with the Company’s bye-law 99, Mr. Soopakij
Chearavanont, Mr. Chawalit Na Muangtoun, Mr. Yoichi lkezoe and
Mr. Surasak Rounroengrom will retire by rotation and, being eligible and
willing, will offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company. Details of each of the above retiring
Directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company are set out in the circular to the Shareholders to

be sent together with this annual report.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company has a service
contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not
determinable by the Group within one year without payment of

compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

Details of the Directors’ emoluments are set out in note 9 to the

financial statements in this annual report.

The emoluments of the Directors are determined with reference to
Directors’ duties, responsibilities and performance and the results of

the Group.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Save for the transactions as disclosed in the section headed
“Continuing Connected Transactions” below and the related party
disclosures as disclosed in note 32 to the financial statements in this
annual report, none of the Directors or his/her connected entity had
any material interests, either directly or indirectly, in any transaction,
arrangement or contract of significance in relation to the business of
the Group to which the Company, or any of its holding companies,
subsidiaries and fellow subsidiaries was a party at any time during the

year or at the year ended 31 December 2023.

CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save for the transactions as disclosed in the section headed
“Continuing Connected Transactions” below and the related party
disclosures as disclosed in note 32 to the financial statements in this
annual report, there had been no contract of significance between the
Company or any of its subsidiaries and a controlling shareholder (as
defined in the Listing Rules) of the Company or any of its subsidiaries
during the year ended 31 December 2023.

ARRANGEMENT TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Share Option Scheme” in
this annual report, at no time during the year ended 31 December
2023 was the Company, its holding company or any of its subsidiaries
a party to any arrangement to enable the directors of the Company to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures

of the Company or any other body corporate.
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TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief and exemption available
to the Shareholders by reason of their holding in the Company’s

securities.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY AND ITS
ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 December 2023, the interests and short positions of
the directors and chief executives of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company and its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”)) as recorded in the register required
to be kept by the Company under Section 352 of the SFO, or as
otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules—=Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) are set

out below:

Directors’ interests in shares of the Company
(Long Positions)

A H

Report of the Directors
ESHREE

B H% R %

S S A 0 2B A ] PRI P SRR A AR L R T A

EERFTETBRAEREARRARE AR
%EW&@*H%&@&EE%%EE&

PERIDEETIAZS S H o MRS R
B 5835200 B2 A 2 W] i A7 2 e i A Rk > ek
MR b BRI E 8RC3 2 B B AT AR TR A
Sy WA < S (A S 1) i) A 8 ) 5 0 22 o 8% 1y
BN A W R BEATBN B FHA AN K
JUAR T M (%3 27 SO BB SEXVER BT R 2 ) Y
JBe A ~ R R P A7 B A s 4 e 2 S IR RN

EEREQARGHER
(H##&)
Approximate
percentage of
the issued
ordinary

Number of ordinary share capital of

Name of Director Capacity shares held the Company

ARAFC#HGT

Pt 4 5 2 W 38 e it A

HHAM £ 4y J& 3 8 H WEZ A ke

Mr. Thirayut Phityaisarakul Beneficial owner 410,000 0.17%
BB HissEA A

Mr. Thanakorn Seriburi Beneficial owner 625,848 0.26%

RHLE A WA A

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, none of the
directors or chief executives of the Company had any interests or
short positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part
XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

ANNUAL REPORT 2023

B LAt e g A > RF =2 A=+—H o
AL 7 B U B A6k 1) 553 5 28 ML vl A ) AR 2
% C T A R B o ST O R R A ) 1 A ] R T AR
Fir % th B 0 > W SEAT AT AC A B A R EAT B
B AR 2y ) s A W vk P (i 2 % 0 B R AR SR XV
VIR i A ) B Iy~ R R P A R b B A AT
o B 25 IR AT o

- g =

= F F K

51



CHIA TAI ENTERPRISES INTERNATIONAL LIMITED
E K f&© ¥ B AR & A

Report of the Directors
EEREE

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AND FERRERBBESRPERGFREERT
PERSONS WHO HAVE INTERESTS OR SHORT HEZAREZIXENAL
POSITIONS WHICH ARE DISCLOSEABLE

UNDER THE SECURITIES AND FUTURES

ORDINANCE

As at 31 December 2023, the following persons (not being a director R -F =4+ _"H=1—H > BB 5HF L HK5%k
or chief executive of the Company) had the following interests and ] #5336 M EH AR AR HEZ B MW > T
short positions in the shares and underlying shares of the Company as | AN+ GEARA R HEFHKLEITHAR) RARAF
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant & A0 S A B A HE A O RERS IR BN F ¢

to Section 336 of the SFO:

Approximate
Number of percentage of the
shares and issued ordinary
underlying  share capital of the
Name of shareholder Notes  Capacity shares held Company
Al A% 2y W)
FeA B R OB A7 % i i
JBE 3 44 T HiE 84 HH BH B 4 ¥ H J A HE 9 A Oy kb
(Note 1) (Note 1)
(Hft1) (Htit1)
Charoen Pokphand Group (2) Interest of controlled corporation 127,748,147 (L) 53.07% (L)
Company Limited 2 e 1] 3 1 R 25
Charoen Pokphand Foods (2) Beneficial owner and interest of 127,748,147 (L) 53.07% (L)
Public Company Limited controlled corporation
B B N B % ¥ ) 2 T RE 25
CPF Investment Limited (2) Beneficial owner 115,137,370 (L) 47.83% (L)
JEETE PN
ITOCHU Corporation Beneficial owner 60,179,593 (L) 25.00% (L)
P i 2B T Ak o Ak HiEHA A
Notes: MEE -
(1) The letter “L” denotes a long position. (1) [LIRETS -

(2) Charoen Pokphand Foods Public Company Limited (“CPF”) held (2) Charoen Pokphand Foods Public Company Limited

127,748,147 shares and underlying shares of the Company, which ([CPF]) ¥ 4127,748,147)% A< 2 =] B 4y B #H B ik
included (i) 115,137,370 ordinary shares beneficially owned by CPF’s 13 > Jorp 55 (i) CPF& & K& 2 ®] CPF Investment
wholly-owned subsidiary, CPF Investment Limited and (ii) 12,610,777 Limited E 25 #EH B9 115,137,370/8 3% %8 )ik M2 (ii) CPF
convertible preference shares beneficially owned by CPF. Charoen B WA 0Y12,610,777)8 v # ¥ 48 %8 I » Charoen
Pokphand Group Company Limited also declared interest in these Pokphand Group Company Limited7F Ft 8 B #E &
shares by virtue of its shareholding interest in CPF. CPFIy SR RE > 0 W) BR B A 3% 6 A W RE 25 o

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, no person (not [ F#iPkEEFHI » R 2=+ _H=+—H >
being a director or chief executive of the Company) had any interests #2855 25 K B & 60l 533616 M E AR AR HEZ
or short positions in the shares and underlying shares of the Company & 3¢ it B9 5 &% » BEME A+ GEAR A 5 # F e 1 AT
as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company Bt A B) £ A &) 0 B4 A HH B B 4 vb B A5 AE ] R
pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO. MBIRA °
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the “Share Option
Scheme”) on 18 March 2015. The Share Option Scheme will remain
in force for ten years from the date of listing on 3 July 2015.

The Share Option Scheme was established for the purpose of
providing incentives and rewards to eligible persons who contribute
to the success of the Group’s operations. Eligible persons of the Share
Option Scheme include the Company’s directors, senior executives,
employees of the Group and those persons that, in the opinion of the

Directors, have contributions or potential contributions to the Group.

The total number of ordinary shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme
shall not in aggregate exceed 24,071,831 shares, being 10% of the
total number of ordinary shares of the Company in issue on the date of
listing on 3 July 2015.

The maximum number of ordinary shares issuable upon exercise of
share options granted under the Share Option Scheme was 24,071,831
shares, representing 10% of the issued ordinary shares of the Company

as at the date of this report.

The maximum number of ordinary shares issuable upon exercise of the
share options granted to each eligible person under the Share Option
Scheme within any 12-month period is limited to 1% of the ordinary
shares of the Company in issue. Any further grant of share options in
excess of this limit is subject to the Shareholders’ approval in advance

in a general meeting.

Share options granted to a director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder of the Company, or to any of their associates, are subject
to approval in advance by the independent non-executive Directors.
In addition, any share options granted to a substantial shareholder
or an independent non-executive director of the Company, or to any
of their associates, in excess of 0.1% of the ordinary shares of the
Company in issue and with an aggregate value (based on the price of
the Company’s ordinary shares at the date of grant) in excess of HK$5
million, within any 12-month period, are subject to the Shareholders’

approval in advance in a general meeting.

The exercise period of the share options granted is determinable by
the Directors but shall commence after the grant and end on a date
which is not later than ten years from the date of grant of the share

options.
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Report of the Directors
EEREE

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

The exercise price of the share options is determinable by the Board,
but shall be at least the highest of: (i) the Stock Exchange closing
price of the Company’s ordinary shares on the date of grant of the
share options; (ii) the average Stock Exchange closing price of the
Company’s ordinary shares for the five trading days immediately
preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal value of the
ordinary share of the Company. Share options do not confer rights on

the holders to dividends or to vote at a general meeting.

As at the date of this report, no option had been granted, exercised,

cancelled or lapsed under the Share Option Scheme.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group had entered into
the following continuing connected transactions that are subject to
the Listing Rules’ reporting requirement for disclosure in this annual

report.
2020 Master CPP Purchase Agreement

On 30 July 2020, the Company entered into a master purchase
agreement (the “2020 Master CPP Purchase Agreement”) with CPP
for the sale and supply of various chlortetracycline products, animal
drugs, animal health products and other related products produced
and/or sold by the Group (the “Revised CTEI Products”) to the CPP
Group. The 2020 Master CPP Purchase Agreement took effect on 1
January 2021 and would continue until 31 December 2023. The 2020
Master CPP Purchase Agreement and the annual caps were approved
by the independent shareholders of the Company on 4 September
2020.

As at 30 July 2020, being the date of the Company’s announcement,
CPF was interested in approximately 47.8% of the issued ordinary
shares of the Company and was the controlling shareholder (as
defined in the Listing Rules) of the Company. CPF was also interested
in approximately 49.7% of the issued share capital of CPP. Companies
in the CPP Group were associates of CPF and connected persons of
the Company under the Listing Rules. The transactions contemplated
under the 2020 Master CPP Purchase Agreement therefore
constituted continuing connected transactions of the Company under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(continued)

2020 Master CPP Purchase Agreement (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the approved annual cap for
the transactions contemplated under the 2020 Master CPP Purchase
Agreement was US$16,800,000 and the actual sales recorded
amounted to US$5,654,000.

2020 Master HOEL Purchase Agreement

On 30 July 2020, the Company entered into a master purchase
agreement (the “2020 Master HOEL Purchase Agreement”) with
HOEL for the sale and supply of the Revised CTEI Products by the
Group to HOEL, its subsidiaries and other associates of CPG but
excluding the CPP Group (the “HOEL Group”). The 2020 Master
HOEL Purchase Agreement took effect on 1 January 2021 and would
continue until 31 December 2023. The 2020 Master HOEL Purchase
Agreement and the annual caps were approved by the independent
shareholders of the Company on 4 September 2020.

As at 30 July 2020, being the date of the Company’s announcement,
HOEL was an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of CPG and CPG
held 48.4% of CPF’s issued share capital. Due to CPG’s near
majority shareholding in CPF, the Company and CPG have agreed
to treat CPG as a substantial shareholder of the Company and its
subsidiaries and their respective associates as connected persons of
the Company within the meaning of the Listing Rules. Accordingly,
the transactions under the 2020 Master HOEL Purchase Agreement
were treated as if they were continuing connected transactions of the
Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The annual caps for the three years ending 31 December 2023 were
subsequently revised and approved by the independent shareholders of
the Company on 23 April 2021.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the approved annual cap
for the transactions contemplated under the 2020 Master HOEL
Purchase Agreement was US$75,000,000 and the actual sales recorded
amounted to US$49,074,000.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(continued)

Master ITOCHU Supply Agreement

On 13 September 2023, the Company entered into an agreement (the
“Master ITOCHU Supply Agreement”) with ITOCHU Corporation
(“ITOCHU”) for the purchase of various additives and other related
biochemical products required by the Group in the manufacture and/
or sale of chlortetracycline and other related products (the “CTEI
Purchase Products”) by the Group from ITOCHU and its subsidiaries

from time to time.

The Master ITOCHU Supply Agreement took effect on 13 September
2023 and would continue until 31 December 2025.

As at 13 September 2023, being the date of the Company’s
announcement, ITOCHU was interested in approximately 25% of
the shares of the Company in issue and was a substantial shareholder
of the Company. Accordingly, the transactions contemplated under
the Master ITOCHU Supply Agreement constituted continuing
connected transactions of the Company under the Listing Rules and
were subject to the reporting and announcement requirements but
were exempted from the circular (including independent financial
advice) and the independent shareholders’ approval requirements
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the annual cap for the
transactions contemplated under the Master ITOCHU Supply
Agreement was US$1,100,000 and the actual purchases recorded
amounted to US$823,000.

2023 Master HOEL Purchase Agreement

On 14 September 2023, the Company entered into a master purchase
agreement (the “2023 Master HOEL Purchase Agreement”) with
HOEL for the sale and supply of the Revised CTEI Products by the
Group to HOEL and other associates of CPG (including the CPP
Group), but excluding the Group. The 2023 Master HOEL Purchase
Agreement took effect on 1 January 2024 and would continue until
31 December 2026. The 2023 Master HOEL Purchase Agreement and
the annual caps were approved by the independent shareholders of the
Company on 16 November 2023.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(continued)

2023 Master HOEL Purchase Agreement (continued)

As at 14 September 2023, being the date of the Company’s
announcement, CPF was interested in approximately 47.8% of the
issued ordinary shares of the Company and was the controlling
shareholder of the Company. Furthermore, approximately 45.4%
of CPF’s issued share capital was held by CPG. Due to CPG’s near
majority shareholding in CPF, the Company and CPG have agreed
to treat CPG as a substantial shareholder of the Company and its
subsidiaries (including HOEL which is its indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary) and their respective associates as connected persons of
the Company within the meaning of the Listing Rules. Therefore,
transactions under the 2023 Master HOEL Purchase Agreement were
treated as if they were continuing connected transactions of the
Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Listing Rules Compliance

The Internal Audit Department has reviewed the above
continuing connected transactions and had no material findings
of non-compliance to report to the independent non-executive

Directors.

The independent non-executive Directors have also reviewed the
Group’s continuing connected transactions and have confirmed that
these continuing connected transactions were entered into (i) in the
ordinary and usual course of business of the Group; (ii) on normal
commercial terms or better; and (iii) in accordance with the relevant
agreements governing them on terms that are fair and reasonable and

in the interests of the Shareholders as a whole.

In respect of the above continuing connected transactions, the
Company has complied with the relevant announcement, circular and
shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing

Rules from time to time.

ANNUAL REPORT 2023

A H

Report of the Directors
ESHREE

FEBRERS (R)

2023FHOELEE B4 = (&)

WN-Z =LA+ NE > WARAFAEHH
CPFR A AR 23 W] O35 47 3 488 Bt B4y £047.8% » K T4
AN Z BB A o D > CPFRY BB 4T e b 4
45.4%MCPGH A » B RCPGH;: A CPF it 2 ¥ it
HE > A A B BLCPG IR B CPG A A A Bl &2 FE K
M LB 2 7 (BIEHOELH 2 CPGRH B 2 B HE A 1Y
B JEG 2 W) ) A S I 2 Ak B BRI R AR A
W Z A AL - B > HEE20234EHOELRME B 48 1)
TH T A2 G e 2 W an MR 9% by BLRI S8 WA R AR
AR Z P BB G o

EHRANER

PR EHER P S DL R B 5 SR A
KA Fr B8 BTG 10 B Sr IR AT Rl -

B S IR BUAT T O B A 5 T Y R 28 B e 22 o %
Tl 5 % S A 22 B (1) AE AR AR [ Y H S R T
S5 (i) 3 MR M ol B R v B RO AT 5 B (i) AR B
A B 22 5y B T il HE AT o O A SF B > 3 BLAT AR
HH B 25 o

GRS | o = N/ e N S i
BRI SE + PIATE A A B 2t ~ 8 eR B JBE AL e B AL
%O

- g =

= F F K

57



58

CHIA TAI ENTERPRISES INTERNATIONAL LIMITED

E X &© ¥ H

Report of the Directors
EEREE

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(continued)

Listing Rules Compliance (continued)

KPMG, the Company’s auditor, was engaged to report on the Group’s
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information”, and with reference to Practice Note 740 (Revised)
“Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under
the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. KPMG has issued an unqualified letter
containing the findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing
connected transactions disclosed above by the Group in accordance

with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules.

Transaction with other related entities with the same shareholders
as CPG, which is disclosed as related party disclosures in note 32 to
the financial statements in this annual report, does not fall under
the definition of connected transaction or continuing connected
transaction, or is fully exempt under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules

and thus is not disclosed above.

Save as disclosed above, there are no other transactions of the
Company which require disclosure in this annual report in accordance
with the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

The Directors were not aware that during the year ended 31
December 2023, any of the Directors had interest in any business
which competed or was likely to compete, either directly or indirectly,
with the business of the Group which falls to be disclosed under the
Listing Rules.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Company’s bye-law 178, every Director shall be
indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets of the Company.
The Company has arranged appropriate directors’ and officers’ liability

insurance for its Directors and officers.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for the Share Option Scheme as disclosed in the section headed
“Share Option Scheme” in this annual report, no equity-linked
agreement was entered into by the Group, or existed during the year
ended 31 December 2023.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company was

entered into or existed during the year ended 31 December 2023.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

The Company has applied the principles and complied with the code
provisions prescribed in the Corporate Governance Code as set out in
Appendix Cl1 to the Listing Rules throughout the year 2023.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, the Directors confirmed that
the Company has maintained the amount of public float as required
under the Listing Rules during the year ended 31 December 2023 and
up to the date of this report.

AUDITOR

KPMG will retire and a resolution for its re-appointment as auditor
of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming annual general

meeting of the Company.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

Thanakorn Seriburi
Director

Hong Kong
23 February 2024
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Independent Auditor’s Report

BB RS

KPMG!

Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of
Chia Tai Enterprises International Limited

(Incorporated in Bermuda with members’ limited liability)
Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Chia
Tai Enterprises International Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (together the “Group”) set out on pages 67 to 150,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as
at 31 December 2023, the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended and
notes comprising material accounting policy information and other

explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2023 and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of

the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA”). Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the
audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report. We
are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”) together with any
ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated
financial statements in Bermuda, and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and
the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is

sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements for the current year. These matters were

addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial

X E B ER2A

Independent Auditor’s Report
B 3 A% BUAT RS
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statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do

not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Revenue recognition

Refer to note 5 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in note 2.4(n).

The key audit matter

How the matter was addressed in our audit

The Group’s revenue is mainly derived from the sale of
biochemical products. The Group generally recognises
revenue when products are delivered to the customer’s
premises for domestic sales or in accordance with the terms
and conditions of sale for export sales.

The terms set out in the Group’s sales contracts relating to
goods acceptance by customers are varied. Accordingly, the
terms and conditions of sales contracts may affect the timing
of recognition of sales to customers as each sales contract
could have different terms relating to customer acceptance
of the goods sold.

We identified the recognition of revenue as a key audit
matter because revenue is one of the key performance
indicators of the Group and is, therefore, subject to an
inherent risk of manipulation by management to meet

targets or expectations.

Our audit procedures to assess the recognition of revenue

included the following:

o evaluating the design, implementation and
operating effectiveness of key internal controls
over the existence, accuracy and timing of revenue
recognition;

° challenging the revenue recognition policies adopted
by the Group by making inquiries of management and
inspecting a sample of sales contracts to understand
the delivery terms of the transactions and to assess the
Group’s timing of revenue recognition with reference
to the requirements of the prevailing accounting
standards;

° inspecting underlying documentation for journal
entries relating to revenue selected based on specific
risk-based criteria;

° assessing whether revenue had been recognised in
the appropriate accounting period by comparing
a sample of sales transactions around the year end
with relevant underlying documents, which included
customers’ signed acknowledgement of receipt (for
domestic sales) and bills of lading (for export sales);
and

o identifying significant sales returns from the
sales ledger after the year end and inspecting the
underlying documentation to assess if the related
adjustments to revenue had been accounted for in the

appropriate accounting period.
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Information other than the consolidated
financial statements and auditor’s report
thereon

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information included in the annual
report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our

auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance

conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in

the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to

report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the directors for the
consolidated financial statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with IFRSs issued by the IASB and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no

realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging
their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting

process.
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you,
as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda Companies
Act 1981, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this

report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these

consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism

throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations or

the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances but not for the purpose of expressing an

opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related

disclosures made by the directors.
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements (continued)

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may

cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that

achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain

solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal

control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence and, where

applicable, related safeguards.
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements (continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such

communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent

auditor’s report is Yip Ka Ming, Alice.

KPMG

Certified Public Accountants
8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong

23 February 2024
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
FEeETEW =R

Year ended 31 December 2023 RE X =4+ _H=+—HILF)¥

2023 2022
Note US$’000 US$’000
Mt i i FLF

REVENUE KA 5 173,979 159,239
Cost of sales 8 8 AR (140,213) (120,050)
Gross profit Y| 33,766 39,189
Other income, net H AU A 5 6 2,525 237
Selling and distribution costs 858 K A3 8 AR (16,113) (13,106)
General and administrative expenses T REE R (22,188) (21,203)
Finance costs I 5 A 7 (1,954) (994)
Share of profits and losses of: A A i P % s 4R

Joint venture FELE 4,816 (9,006)

Associate T 2% A &) 18(b) 2,091 2,134
Profit/(loss) before tax I3 8 Wi 3 A (s 48 8 2,943 (2,749)
Income tax B 458 11 (1,057) (1,510)
Profit/(loss) for the year AAER A, (OBE) 1,886 (4,259)
Profit/(loss) attributable to: wALER) W& T

Shareholders of the Company AN TR 2,553 (6,677)

Non-controlling interests I e ) e B £ (667) 2,418

1,886 (4,259)
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
mEzEB R R
Year ended 31 December 2023 B E R =4+ A=+ —HILEE

2023 2022
Note US cents US cents
M it FE Al F Al
EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE A% 4 ) i SR Al 2
ATTRIBUTABLE TO SHAREHOLDERS R, (EE)
OF THE COMPANY 13
Basic and diluted FEA T M 1.01 (2.64)
2023 2022
US$’000 US$’000
< i Fo T T
Profit/(loss) for the year A4E (B HE) B 1,886 (4,259)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME I A % 1 W A
Items that may be reclassified subsequently HeEWRegEN 2 HE
to profit or loss: HEZHH :
Exchange differences related to translation B AT Ml S T 4 SR IR R B
of foreign operations Z T 5, 75 (2,044) (6,277)
Share of other comprehensive income of: JRE A Ath 2 i U 25
Joint venture BEAiE (3,071) (9,431)
Associate W% A 18(b) (505) (1,770)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME AR AR Al 4 i W £
FOR THE YEAR (5,620) (17,478)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME % A 4 T K 4 AR A
FOR THE YEAR (3,734) (21,737)
Total comprehensive income attributable to: 24 Tl W) % 48 %1 5 8 7 -
Shareholders of the Company VNN (2,420) (22,209)
Non-controlling interests I e ) e A 2 (1,314) 472
(3,734) (21,737)

Details of dividend for the year are disclosed in note 12 to the financial A4 2 Bt B 5E 16 A A B R M sk 12 a4 2% -

statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e B R R

At 31 December 2023 W _F =4 +_H=1—H

2023 2022
Note US$’000 US$’000
Mt i i FLF
NON-CURRENT ASSETS I o B B s
Property, plant and equipment L E SN N & 14 95,951 93,847
Land lease prepayments WA LA S B 15 4,878 5,168
Investments in joint venture NEBLENHRE 17 101,074 102,122
Investments in associate WS AT G 18 19,726 19,880
Other non-current assets At I 3 B 19 712 246
Total non-current assets 48 Ik R B B s 222,341 221,263
CURRENT ASSETS B &
Inventories Nty 20 39,690 45,734
Trade and bills receivables FEWE 5 Rk i 21 63,284 40,863
Prepayments, deposits and BT IR - R
other receivables U Al 78 W B 3k 22 14,453 11,866
Cash and cash equivalents Ble kBl E&S5EY 23 37,606 30,859
Total current assets B B A R 155,033 129,322
CURRENT LIABILITIES B £
Trade and bills payables HEAH R B HE ak  L 24 24,952 18,816
Other payables and accruals o Ath A MR Sk I TE AR B 25 13,714 17,657
Bank borrowings SRAITAE K 26 58,118 36,844
Income tax payables JE AT B A A 3,304 3,997
Total current liabilities HE B & 100,088 77,314
NET CURRENT ASSETS R B 54,945 52,008
TOTAL ASSETS LESS A E W
CURRENT LIABILITIES B E 277,286 273,271
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FEEFBMRRE
At 31 December 2023 R _E _ =4+ _H=+—H
2023 2022
Note US$’000 US$’000
M7t < i FLF
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES I B £ £
Bank borrowings SRAT A K 26 20,050 12,258
Other non-current liabilities HAb IR B A E 27 1,648 2,170
Deferred tax liabilities IR W T A 28 3,570 3,091
Total non-current liabilities 28 Ik B A 25,268 17,519
NET ASSETS &R 252,018 255,752
EQUITY BE 25
Equity attributable to shareholders AR 2 ) B R HE A RE 25
of the Company
Issued capital OB AT AR 29 25,333 25,333
Reserves it f 30 203,097 205,517
228,430 230,850
Non-controlling interests I 52 01 HE 2% 23,588 24,902
TOTAL EQUITY HE 25 A A 252,018 255,752

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors of the

Company on 23 February 2024.

Thanakorn Seriburi ZE43
Director EHH

TR TR T T = H AR ) E A Rk

BT AT 5 -

Thirayut Phityaisarakul 2541 B
Director #H
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CHIA TAI ENTERPRISES INTERNATIONAL LIMITED
E X & ¥ B AR 2 A

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

=) HE >< 424
MERZEE R
Year ended 31 December 2023 RE X =4+ _H=+—HILF)¥

Attributable to shareholders of the Company

20w R R A
PRC  Exchange Non-
Issued Capital reserve  fluctuation Retained controlling Total
capital reserve funds reserve profits Total interests equity
WE SMENH bl

CH#RA  HARE  MEE: Gl AR ik Bf B
U8$°000 US$°000 US$°000 US$’000 US$°000 US$°000 US$°000 US$°000
Fnfr  Frfr Frfr  Fifr  Fufr  FEifrx  Fifr  Eifr
(note 29)  (note 30 (b)) (note 30 (c))  (note 30 (d))

(Wit29) (Wit (b)) (Witio) (W50 ()

At 1 January 2023 REBZ=ZH-A-H 25,333 10,845 19,317 1,261 174,094 230,850 24,902 255,752
(Profit)/loss for the year RERH(BH) - - - - 2,553 2,553 (667) 1,886
Other comprehensive income R 2T

for the year:
Exchange differences related to BAMBER ML AR

translation of foreign operations I 2 - - - (1,397) - (1,397) (647) (2,044)
Shate of other comprehensive income of:  FEAS H 2 45

Joint venture X -t - - - (3,071) - (3,071) - (3,071)

Associate Band - - - (505) - (505) - (505)
Total comprehensive income A A T A R

for the year - - - (4,973) 2,553 (2,420) (1,314) (3,734)
Transfer in/(out) wWA/(H) - - 224 - (224) - - -
At 31 December 2023 REFZ=E

+ZA=Z+—H 25,333 10,845 19,541 (3,712) 176,423 228,430 23,588 252,018

ANNUAL REPORT 2023
—®E-=%%%




72

CHIA TAI ENTERPRISES INTERNATIONAL LIMITED

E X &© ¥ H

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

B AR A

Year ended 31 December 2023 B E _F =4+ _H=+—HILEE

B

Attributable to shareholders of the Company

AA A
PRC  Exchange Non-
Issued Capital reserve  fluctuation Retained controlling Total
capital reserve funds reserve profits Total interests equity
TE SME KA Rtz
CRORA  BARE  BEEE  WBRE ik ok W R
Ussooo Ussooo ussooo Ussooo ussooo ussooo uss§ooo ussooo
Frfr  Fxfr  Frfr  Fxfr  FExfx  #Exfxn #ErTfr ErTx
(note 29) (note 30 (b)) (note 30(c)) (note 30 (d))
(Hit29) (Wats0 (b)) (Witio) (it (d))
At 1 January 2022 RZBZZHE-H—H 15333 10,845 17,989 16,793 182,099 153,059 30,464 183,523
(Loss)fprofit for the year RE (B 4R) A - - - - (6,677) (6,677) 2,418 (4,259)
Other comprehensive income R A A
for the year:
Exchange differences related to HAMBEH RF 2
translation of foreign operations B I L5 4 - - - (4.331) - (4,331) (1,946) (6,277)
Shate of other comprehensive income of:  FEAG HE B2 g5
Joint venture rEEE - - - (9.431) - (9.431) - (9.431)
Associate BaAd - - - (1,770) - (1,770) - (1,770)
Total comprehensive income for the year 4 P % 1 fi £ 4% - - - (15,532) (6,677) (22,209) 411 (21,737)
Transfer in/(out) #A/ () - - 1,328 - (1,328) - - -
Dividends declared to non-controlling R I il i
equity holders &39S - - - - - - (6,034) (6,034)
At 31 December 2022 e S
+ZAZ+—H 15333 10,845 19,317 1,61 174,004 230,850 24902 155,152
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CHIA TAI ENTERPRISES INTERNATIONAL LIMITED

E X

i ¥ B B AR D H

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
an Fa EE ﬁ JJIL E ?:!‘:Z

Year ended 31 December 2023 RE X =4+ _H=+—HILF)¥

2023 2022
Note US$’°000 US$’000
A FIL T 7T ETre n
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING BEBWEHZHERE
ACTIVITIES
Profit/(loss) before tax GRS A X)) 2,943 (2,749)
Adjustments for: R
Bank interest income SRATR BB 6 (1,149) (368)
Amortisation of government grant BORT i B 4 & (70) (14)
Finance costs B S R A 7 1,954 994
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  #)2 - Wi ik 2 78 8 6,336 6,786
Amortisation of land lease prepayments THAT LR Y 8 55 139
(Gain)/loss on disposal of property, plant and HEYE - WXk
equipment, net (H A, e 15 6 (29) 110
Share of profits and losses of: A i P B s 4R
Joint venture BFENE (4,816) 9,006
Associate i A | 18(b) (2,091) (2,134)
3,133 11,770
Decrease/(increase) in inventories EEWBA(¥m) 4,759 (12,812)
Increase in trade and bills receivables JRE W B T MR Ak T S R B (23,636) (4,525)
(Increase)/decrease in prepayments, TEAT IR K ~ %4 K HiAth
deposits and other receivables JRE W B 3k (38 0m) 9k A (2,885) 1,945
Increase in trade and bills payables JE A 1 B e Ak A S B 1 6,686 6,745
(Decrease)/increase in other payables and Al E A R Ak R TH R E A
accruals (WA) /4 m (961) 7,018
Cash generated (used in)/from operations waRm),/ Mtz ie (12,904) 10,141
Interest paid oA FE (1,954) (1,664)
Income tax paid [BERRZIEES ) (1,204) (2,848)
Net cash flows (used in)/generated from BEEH(FH) iz
operating activities HemEmH (16,062) 5,629
ANNUAL REPORT 2023
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CHIA TAI ENTERPRISES INTERNATIONAL LIMITED

E X &© ¥ 8 B &FR 2 A

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
BEBERER
Year ended 31 December 2023 B E _F =4+ _H=+—HILEE

2023 2022
Note US$’000 US$’000
M 7 FIL T 7T FT T T
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING BEWB ZHE R =
ACTIVITIES
Purchases of property, plant and equipment EE W - W Kk (11,112) (16,005)
Dividends received from joint venture B G 8 A ] B 2,794 -
Proceeds from disposal of property, B - W
plant and equipment B 3K ] 29 -
Interest received B 1,149 368
Net cash flow used in investing activities BEFHHMANZ
Bl & & F 5 (7,140) (15,637)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING il B 2 Bl iR
ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from bank borrowings SRAT A6 2K P A5 3K 0 23(c) 92,968 59,433
Repayment of bank borrowings &R AT K 23(c) (62,743) (49,048)
Net cash flows from financing activities MEHDNGLZ
Bl & & 30,225 10,385
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH B4 B Bl 4 25 (00 B i
EQUIVALENTS 7,023 3717
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year ZEHIZ B & KB & EHY 30,859 31,093
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net Al 38 58 B 2 3% % 5 40 (276) (611)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ERZBERBEEHY
AT END OF YEAR 23 37,606 30,859
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CHIA TAI ENTERPRISES INTERNATIONAL LIMITED

2.1

E K @

X E B ER

A H

Notes to the Financial Statements

B 7% ¥ 3% MY &E

Year ended 31 December 2023 RE X =4+ _H=+—HILF)¥

GENERAL INFORMATION

Chia Tai Enterprises International Limited (the “Company”)
is a limited liability company incorporated in Bermuda. The
Company and its subsidiaries hereinafter are collectively
referred to as the “Group”. The Group and its joint venture
and associate are principally involved in (i) manufacturing
and/or sale of chlortetracycline and animal health products;
(ii) trading of machinery; and (iii) manufacturing and sale of

automotive parts respectively.

At 31 December 2023, the directors consider the immediate
holding company of the Company to be Charoen Pokphand
Foods Public Company Limited (“CPF”), which is incorporated
in the Kingdom of Thailand and shares of which are listed on
the Stock Exchange of Thailand, and remains to be as such as
at the date of approval of these financial statements. CPF is
a significantly owned company of Charoen Pokphand Group
Company Limited (“CPG”), which is incorporated in the
Kingdom of Thailand.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”)
(which include all International Financial Reporting
Standards, International Accounting Standards (“IASs”)
and interpretations) issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board (“IASB”) and the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. These financial
statements also comply with the applicable disclosure
provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing
Rules”). The financial statements of the subsidiaries are
prepared for the same reporting period as the Company, using

consistent accounting policies.
Basis of measurement

These financial statements are presented in United States
dollars (“US$”), and all values are rounded to the nearest
thousand (“US$’000”) except when otherwise indicated. The

functional currency of the Company is United States dollars.
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CHIA TAI ENTERPRISES INTERNATIONAL LIMITED

E X &© ¥ H

Notes to the Financial Statements

B 5 3R & MY &
Year ended 31 December 2023 B E _F =4+ _H=+—HILEE

2.1

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Use of estimates and judgements

The preparation of these financial statements in conformity
with IFRSs requires management to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect the application of
policies and reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income
and expenses. The estimates and assumptions are based
on historical experience and various other factors that are
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results
of which form the basis of making the judgements about
carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from

these estimates.

The estimates and assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing
basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the
period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and future

periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application of IFRSs
that have significant effect on these financial statements and

major sources of estimation uncertainty are discussed in note 3.

B AR A

2.1
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CHIA TAI ENTERPRISES INTERNATIONAL LIMITED

U]

(ii)

E K @

X E B ER

A H

Notes to the Financial Statements
B 7% 3R & M 5

Year ended 31 December 2023 RE X =4+ _H=+—HILF)¥

2.2. CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICY AND
DISCLOSURES

New and amended IFRSs

The IASB has issued a number of new standards,
amendments to IFRSs and interpretation that are first
effective for the current interim period. Of these, the
following amendments may be relevant to the Group:

[FRS 17 [ERS 17, Insurance contracts
Amendments to [AS 1

and IFRS Practice
Statement 2

Amendments to [AS 1, and [FRS
Practice Statement 2, Making
materiality judgements: Disclosure of
accounting policies

Amendments to IAS 8 Amendments to IAS 8, Accounting
policies, changes in accounting estimates
and errors: Definition of accounting
estimates

Amendments to [AS 12 Amendments to [AS 12, International
Tax Reform - Pillar Two Model Rules
(amendments)

None of the new standard, amendment or
interpretation have had a significant financial effect
to the Group. The Group has not applied any new
standard, amendment or interpretation that is not yet
effective for the current period.

New guidance from the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) on the
accounting implications of the abolition of the
MPF-LSP offsetting mechanism

In June 2022, the Government of the Hong Kong
Special Administrative Region of the People’s Republic
of China (the “Government”) gazetted the Hong Kong
Employment and Retirement Schemes Legislation
(Offsetting Arrangement) (Amendment) Ordinance
2022 (the “Amendment Ordinance”), which will
eventually abolish the statutory right of an employer to
reduce its long service payment (“LSP”) and severance
payment payable to a Hong Kong employee by drawing
on its mandatory contributions to the mandatory
provident fund (“MPF”) scheme (the “offsetting
mechanism”). The Government has subsequently
announced that the Amendment Ordinance will come

into effect from 1 May 2025.
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CHIA TAI ENTERPRISES INTERNATIONAL LIMITED

E K & ¥ B A R o 7
Notes to the Financial Statements
B 75 ] 3 Mt &=
Year ended 31 December 2023 R E = F " Z4F+ =+ — H IR
2.2. CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICY AND 22 @ BEEREEZ2EXR(E)

DISCLOSURES (continued)

(i) New guidance from the Hong Kong Institute of (i) BRETMNLBINEREBABESRERH
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) on the RESEHABIINETHERANET
accounting implications of the abolition of the sl (&)

MPF-LSP offsetting mechanism (continued)
In July 2023, HKICPA published “Accounting HBREEMAGR =4 L%
implications of the abolition of the MPF-LSP offsetting A7 7 5 B8 I TR B 4 B R 000 IR s 4
mechanism in Hong Kong” that provides guidance on A8 B R B P e SRR D)
the accounting considerations relating to the offsetting i B T R ) 0 B SR A ) A R )
mechanism and the abolition of the mechanism. R TS - AEEBER T L
The Group has applied the above HKICPA guidance A E A g Y] RREFIR
and this change in accounting policy did not have SRS BT 1 3 A T 5 R A B K
any material impact on these consolidated financial W o
statements.

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE 23 EEMEMARERVERYBRE

INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING Z 8|

STANDARDS

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the IASB BEAMBHRETRE » BBEaFEIEE

issued a number of new standards and amendments which are B O AEAT ST R e ) BT o WA AE T B

not yet effective for the year ended 31 December 2023 and HARE-F_=F+H=+—HILEE

which have not been adopted in these financial statements. W A A B HE AR A A B IR R R A - T

These include the following which may be relevant to the T W] RE BEAS AR [ B AT M S~ B HT SR -

Group:

Amendments to Presentation of Financial Statements: 2 B g w5 Vg2 T3k

IAS 1 Classification of liabilities as SR MAETRT B FF i B A 1 K
current or non-current (“2020 ([20204E 1537 1)
amendments”)!

Amendments to Presentation of Financial Statements: JoR] % T ¥4 Bl BRI E - R

[IAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with H1BE M AEET HZ I A G
Covenants!
Amendments to Statement of cash flows and Financial 2] s w1 e Bland £ R TA :
IAS 7 and IFRS 7 Instruments: Disclosures: Supplier SEUR BB R S L
finance arrangements! 5 i 5 e A
B ME T
Amendments to The effects of changes in foreign 2 B wt e A S FEE FE 535 58 B 1 5% B < ke
IAS 21 exchange rates: Lack of 2155 BT Z H] St #
exchangeability?
' Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024 R ZRE A — H R AR B iR A
A2
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025 ISR ITHAE—H— H B2 A% B UG 2 4E B
A2

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of AR B AL B IR A R 2 o

the impact of these amendments upon initial application. BEHW > AEERLBEAZFETAGH

So far, the Group considers that the impact of adopting K P A P R AR M B KB o

the amendments will have on the consolidated financial

statements are unlikely to be significant.

ANNUAL REPORT 2023

- g =

= F F K



CHIA TAI ENTERPRISES INTERNATIONAL LIMITED

E X &© ¥ 8 B & R

A H

Notes to the Financial Statements

Bt 5 3R 2k MY &

Year ended 31 December 2023 RE X =4+ _H=+—HILF)¥
24 BERETFBRBE

2.4 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

(a)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The
Group controls an entity when it is exposed to, or has
rights to, variable returns from its involvement with
the entity and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the entity. When assessing
whether the Group has power, only substantive rights
(held by the Group and other parties) are considered.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into
these financial statements from the date that control
commences until the date that control ceases.
Intra-group balances, transactions and cash flows
and any unrealised profits arising from intra-group
transactions are eliminated in full in preparing these
financial statements. Unrealised losses resulting from
intra-group transactions are eliminated in the same way
as unrealised gains but only to the extent that there is

no evidence of impairment.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a
subsidiary not attributable directly or indirectly to
the Company, and in respect of which the Group has
not agreed any additional terms with the holders of
those interests which would result in the Group as a
whole having a contractual obligation in respect of
those interests that meets the definition of a financial
liability. For each business combination, the Group
can elect to measure any non-controlling interests
either at fair value or at the non-controlling interests’
proportionate share of the subsidiary’s net identifiable

assets.
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CHIA TAI ENTERPRISES INTERNATIONAL LIMITED

E X &© ¥ H

Notes to the Financial Statements

Bt 75 ¥R R MY &

Year ended 31 December 2023 B E _F =4+ _H=+—HILEE

2.4 SUM
POLI

(a)

MARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
CIES (continued)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests
(continued)

Non-controlling interests are presented in the
consolidated statement of financial position within
equity, separately from equity attributable to the
equity shareholders of the Company. Non-controlling
interests in the results of the Group are presented
on the face of the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income as an allocation of the total
profit or loss and total comprehensive income for the
year between non-controlling interests and the equity
shareholders of the Company. Loans from holders
of non-controlling interests and other contractual
obligations towards these holders are presented as
financial liabilities in the consolidated statement of
financial position in accordance with notes 2.4(h) or

(i) depending on the nature of the liability.

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that
do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as
equity transactions, whereby adjustments are made
to the amounts of controlling and non-controlling
interests within consolidated equity to reflect the
change in relative interests, but no adjustments are

made to goodwill and no gain or loss is recognised.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is
accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in that
subsidiary, with a resulting gain or loss being recognised
in profit or loss. Any interest retained in that former
subsidiary at the date when control is lost is recognised
at fair value and this amount is regarded as the fair
value on initial recognition of a financial asset or,
when appropriate, the cost on initial recognition of an
investment in an associate or joint venture (see note

2.4(b)).

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
an investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less

impairment losses (see note 2.4(e)(ii)).

BER LA

24 EXRSHBEME(E)

(a)
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CHIA TAI ENTERPRISES INTERNATIONAL LIMITED

E X &© ¥ 8 B & R

A H

Notes to the Financial Statements

Bt 5 3R 2k MY &

Year ended 31 December 2023 RE X =4+ _H=+—HILF)¥
24 BEARETBRME (&)

2.4 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(b)

Associate and joint venture

An associate is an entity in which the Group or
Company has significant influence, but not control
or joint control, over its management, including
participation in the financial and operating policy
decisions. Significant influence is presumed to exist
when the Group holds between 20% and 50% of the

voting power of another entity.

A joint venture is an arrangement whereby the Group
or Company has joint control, established by contracts
requiring unanimous consent for decisions about the
activities that significantly affect the arrangements’

returns.

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is
accounted for in these financial statements under the
equity method, unless it is classified as held for sale (or
included in a disposal group that is classified as held
for sale). Under the equity method, the investment
is initially recorded at cost, adjusted for any excess of
the Group’s share of the acquisition-date fair values of
the investee’s identifiable net assets over the cost of
the investment (if any). Thereafter, the investment is
adjusted for the post acquisition change in the Group’s
share of the investee’s net assets and any impairment
loss relating to the investment (see note 2.4(e)(ii)).
At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether
there is any objective evidence that the investment is
impaired. Any acquisition-date excess over cost, the
Group’s share of the post-acquisition, post-tax results of
the investees and any impairment losses for the year are
recognised in profit or loss, whereas the Group’s share
of the post-acquisition post-tax items of the investees’
other comprehensive income is recognised as other

comprehensive income.
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Year ended 31 December 2023 B E _F =4+ _H=+—HILEE

2.4 SUM
POLI

(b)

MARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
CIES (continued)

Associate and joint venture (continued)

When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its interest in
the associate or the joint venture, the Group’s interest
is reduced to nil and recognition of further losses is
discontinued except to the extent that the Group has
incurred legal or constructive obligations or made
payments on behalf of the investee. For this purpose,
the Group’s interest is the carrying amount of the
investment under the equity method together with the
Group’s long-term interests that in substance form part
of the Group’s net investment in the associate or the

joint venture.

Unrealised profits and losses resulting from transactions
between the Group and its associate and joint venture
are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in
the investee, except where unrealised losses provide
evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred, in
which case they are recognised immediately in profit or

loss.

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment
in a joint venture or vice versa, retained interest is not
remeasured. Instead, the investment continues to be

accounted for under the equity method.

In all other cases, when the Group ceases to have
significant influence over an associate or joint control
over a joint venture, it is accounted for as a disposal
of the entire interest in that investee, with a resulting
gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss. Any
interest retained in that former investee at the date
when significant influence or joint control is lost is
recognised at fair value and this amount is regarded as

the fair value on initial recognition of a financial asset.
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Year ended 31

2.4 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(c)

Property, plant and equipment and
depreciation

Property, plant and equipment

Items of property, plant and equipment, other than
construction in progress, are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses (see
note 2.4(e)(ii)):

(i) buildings held for own use which are situated on

leasehold land; and

(ii)  other items of plant and equipment.

The cost of self-constructed items of property, plant
and equipment includes the cost of materials, direct
labour, the initial estimate, where relevant, of the costs
of dismantling and removing the items and restoring
the site on which they are located, and an appropriate
proportion of production overheads and borrowing

costs (see note 2.4(p)).

Items may be produced while bringing an item of
property, plant and equipment to the location and
condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in
the manner intended by management. The proceeds
from selling any such items and the related costs are

recognised in profit or loss.

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal
of an item of property, plant and equipment are
determined as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the item and are
recognised in profit or loss on the date of retirement or

disposal.
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Year ended 31 December 2023 B E _F =4+ _H=+—HILEE

2.4 SUM
POLI

(c)

MARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
CIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and
depreciation (continued)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis
to write off the cost of items of property, plant and
equipment to their estimated residual value over the
estimated useful life. The principal annual rates used

for this purpose are as follows:

2% to 4.5%
6% to 15%
10% to 33.33%

Industrial buildings

Plant and machinery

Furniture, fixtures and office
equipment

Motor vehicles and transport 9% to 33.33%

facilities

Where parts of an item of property, plant and
equipment have different useful lives, the cost of the
item is allocated on a reasonable basis between the
parts and each part is depreciated separately. Both the
useful life of an asset and its residual value, if any, are

reviewed annually.

Construction in progress

Construction in progress represents the silos, factories
and warehouses under construction. Construction
in progress is stated at cost less any accumulated
impairment losses, and is not depreciated. Cost
comprises the direct costs of construction and
capitalised borrowing costs on related borrowed funds
during the period of construction. Construction in
progress is reclassified to the appropriate category of
property, plant and equipment when completed and

ready for use.
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24 BEARETBRME (&)

2.4 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(d)

Leased assets

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether
the contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is,
or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right
to control the use of an identified asset for a period
of time in exchange for consideration. Control is
conveyed where the customer has both the right to
direct the use of the identified asset and to obtain

substantially all of the economic benefits from that use.

Where the contract contains lease components and
non-lease components, the Group has elected not
to separate non-lease components and accounts for
each lease component and any associated non-lease

components as a single lease component for all leases.

At the lease commencement date, the Group recognises
a right-of-use asset and a lease liability, except for
short-term leases that have a lease term of 12 months
or less and leases of low-value assets. When the Group
enters into a lease in respect of a low-value asset, the
Group decides whether to capitalise the lease on a
lease-by-lease basis. The lease payments associated with
those leases which are not capitalised are recognised as

an expense on a systematic basis over the lease term.

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is
initially recognised at the present value of the lease
payments payable over the lease term, discounted
using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that
rate cannot be readily determined, using a relevant
incremental borrowing rate. After initial recognition,
the lease liability is measured at amortised cost and
interest expense is calculated using the effective
interest method. Variable lease payments that do
not depend on an index or rate are not included in
the measurement of the lease liability and hence are
charged to profit or loss in the accounting period in

which they are incurred.
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2.4 SUM
POLI

(d)

MARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
CIES (continued)

Leased assets (continued)

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease
is capitalised is initially measured at cost, which
comprises the initial amount of the lease liability
plus any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, and any initial direct costs
incurred. Where applicable, the cost of the right-of-use
assets also includes an estimate of costs to dismantle
and remove the underlying asset or to restore the
underlying asset or the site on which it is located,
discounted to their present value, less any lease

incentives received.

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a change
in future lease payments arising from a change in
an index or rate, or there is a change in the Group’s
estimate of the amount expected to be payable under
a residual value guarantee, or there is a change arising
from the reassessment of whether the Group will be
reasonably certain to exercise a purchase, extension
or termination option. When the lease liability is
remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is
made to the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset,
or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount of

the right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(e) Impairment of assets

(i)

Impairment of trade and bills receivables
and other receivables

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECLs
on financial assets measured at amortised cost
(including cash and cash equivalents and trade

and other receivables).
Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of
credit losses. Credit losses are measured as the
present value of all expected cash shortfalls (i.e.
the difference between the cash flows due to the
Group in accordance with the contract and the

cash flows that the Group expects to receive).

The expected cash shortfalls are discounted
using the following discount rates where the

effect of discounting is material:

. fixed-rate financial assets, trade and
other receivables: effective interest rate
determined at initial recognition or an

approximation thereof; and

. variable-rate financial assets: current

effective interest rate.

The maximum period considered when
estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual
period over which the Group is exposed to
credit risk.

In measuring ECLs, the Group takes into

account reasonable and supportable information
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Year ended 31 December 2023 B E _F =4+ _H=+—HILEE

2.4 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(e)

Impairment of assets (continued)

(i)

Impairment of trade and bills receivables
and other receivables (continued)

Measurement of ECLs (continued)

ECLs are measured on either of the following

bases:

. 12-month ECLs: these are losses that are
expected to result from possible default
events within the 12 months after the
reporting date; and

. lifetime ECLs: these are losses that

are expected to result from all possible
default events over the expected lives
of the items to which the ECL model
applies.

Loss allowances for trade receivables are always
measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs.
ECLs on these financial assets are estimated
using a provision matrix based on the Group’s
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for
factors that are specific to the debtors and an
assessment of both the current and forecast
general economic conditions at the reporting
date.

For all other financial instruments, the Group
recognises a loss allowance equal to 12-month
ECLs unless there has been a significant
increase in credit risk of the financial
instrument since initial recognition, in which
case the loss allowance is measured at an

amount equal to lifetime ECLs.
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Year ended 31 December 2023 RE X =4+ _H=+—HILF)¥

2.4 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(e) Impairment of assets (continued)

(i)

Impairment of trade and bills receivables
and other receivables (continued)

Significant increases in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk of a
financial instrument has increased significantly
since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of default occurring on the financial
instrument assessed at the reporting date with
that assessed at the date of initial recognition.
In making this reassessment, the Group
considers that a default event occurs when the
debtor is unlikely to pay its credit obligations
to the Group in full, without recourse by the
Group to actions such as realising security
(if any is held). The Group considers both
quantitative and qualitative information that is
reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information
that is available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken
into account when assessing whether credit
risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition:

. failure to make payments of principal or
interest on their contractually due dates;

. an actual or expected significant
deterioration in a financial instrument’s
external or internal credit rating (if
available);

. an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the operating results of
the debtor; and

. existing or forecast changes in the
technological, market, economic or legal
environment that have a significant
adverse effect on the debtor’s ability to
meet its obligation to the Group.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(e)

Impairment of assets (continued)

(i)

Impairment of trade and bills receivables
and other receivables (continued)

Significant increases in credit risk
(continued)

Depending on the nature of the financial
instruments, the assessment of a significant
increase in credit risk is performed on either an
individual basis or a collective basis. When the
assessment is performed on a collective basis,
the financial instruments are grouped based on
shared credit risk characteristics, such as past

due status and credit risk ratings.

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date to
reflect changes in the financial instruments’
credit risk since initial recognition. Any
change in the ECLs amount is recognised as an
impairment gain or loss in profit or loss. The
Group recognises an impairment gain or loss for
all financial instruments with a corresponding
adjustment to their carrying amount through a

loss allowance account.

Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset
is written off (either partially or in full) to the
extent that there is no realistic prospect of
recovery. This is generally the case when the
Group determines that the debtor does not have
assets or sources of income that could generate
sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts

subject to the write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was
previously written off are recognised as a
reversal of impairment in profit or loss in the

period in which the recovery occurs.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(e) Impairment of assets (continued)

(ii)

Impairment of other assets

Internal and external sources of information
are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period to identify indications that the following
assets may be impaired or, except in the case
of goodwill, an impairment loss previously

recognised no longer exists or may have

decreased:

. property, plant and equipment;

. land lease prepayments;

. interest in joint ventures accounted

for under the equity method in the
consolidated financial statements (see
note 2.4(b); and

. investments in subsidiaries in the
Company’s statement of financial

position.

If any such indication exists, the asset’s

recoverable amount is estimated.
Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the
greater of its fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to
their present value using a pre-tax discount rate
that reflects current market assessments of the
time value of money and the risks specific to
the asset. Where an asset does not generate cash
inflows largely independent of those from other

assets, the recoverable amount is determined for
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Year ended 31 December 2023 B E _F =4+ _H=+—HILEE

2.4 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(e)

Impairment of assets (continued)

(ii)

Impairment of other assets (continued)
Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit
or loss if the carrying amount of an asset, or
the cash-generating unit to which it belongs,
exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment
losses recognised in respect of cash-generating
units are allocated first to reduce the carrying
amount of any goodwill allocated to the
cash-generating unit (or group of units) and
then, to reduce the carrying amount of the
assets in the unit (or group of units) on a pro
rata basis, except that the carrying value of an
asset will not be reduced below its individual
fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable) or

value in use (if determinable).

Reversals of impairment losses

In respect of assets other than goodwill, an
impairment loss is reversed if there has been
a favourable change in the estimates used
to determine the recoverable amount. An
impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not

reversed.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited
to the asset’s carrying amount that would
have been determined had no impairment
loss been recognised in prior years. Reversals
of impairment losses are credited to profit
or loss in the year in which the reversals are

recognised.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

)

(9)

Inventories

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net

realisable value.

Cost is calculated using the weighted average cost
formula and comprises all costs of purchase, costs of
conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the

inventories to their present location and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of
completion and the estimated costs necessary to make
the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of
those inventories is recognised as an expense in the
period in which the related revenue is recognised.
The amount of any write-down of inventories to
net realisable value and all losses of inventories are
recognised as an expense in the period the write-down
or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of any
write-down of inventories is recognised as a reduction
in the amount of inventories recognised as an expense

in the period in which the reversal occurs.
Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are initially recognised at
fair value and thereafter stated at amortised cost using
the effective interest method, less allowance for credit
losses (see note 2.4(e)), except where the receivables
are interest-free loans made to related parties without
any fixed repayment terms or the effect of discounting
would be immaterial. In such cases, the receivables are

stated at cost less allowance for credit losses.
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2.4 SUM
POLI

(h)

U]

1)

(k)

MARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
CIES (continued)

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially at
fair value less attributable transaction costs. Subsequent
to initial recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are
stated at amortised cost with any difference between
the amount initially recognised and redemption value
being recognised in profit or loss over the period of the
borrowings, together with any interest and fees payable,

using the effective interest method.
Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair
value. Trade and other payables are subsequently stated
at amortised cost unless the effect of discounting would

be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.
Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and
on hand, demand deposits with banks, and short-term,
highly liquid investments that are readily convertible
into known amounts of cash and which are subject to
an insignificant risk of changes in value, having been
within three months of maturity at acquisition. Bank
overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form an
integral part of the Group’s cash management are also
included as a component of cash and cash equivalents
for the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash

flows.

Employee benefits

(i) Short term employee benefits

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave and
the cost of non-monetary benefits are accrued
in the year in which the associated services
are rendered by employees. Where payment
or settlement is deferred and the effect would
be material, these amounts are stated at their

present values.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(k)

Employee benefits (continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the
earlier of when the Group can no longer
withdraw the offer of those benefits and when
it recognises restructuring costs involving the
payment of termination benefits.

Retirement benefit schemes
Hong Kong

The Group has the following two categories of
defined benefit plans:

- defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund benefit scheme (the
“MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance,
for those employees who are eligible to
participate in the MPF Scheme

- LSP under the Hong Kong Employment
Ordinance

The Group’s obligation in respect of defined
benefit plans is calculated separately for each
plan by estimating the amount of future benefit
that employees have earned in the current and
prior periods and discounting that amount. For
the MPF Scheme, contributions are made based
on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries
and are charged to profit or loss as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the
MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme
are held separately from those of the Group
in an independently administered fund. The
Group’s employer contributions vest fully with
the employees when contributed into the MPF
Scheme. For LSP obligations, the estimated
amount of future benefit is determined without
deducting the negative service cost arising from
the accrued benefits derived from the Group’s
MPF contributions that have been vested with

employees.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(k)

Employee benefits (continued)

(iii)

Retirement benefit schemes (continued)
PRC

As stipulated by the regulations of the PRC
government, subsidiaries of the Group in
mainland China are required to make specific
contributions to the state-controlled retirement
plan at rates not more than 16% (before 1 May
2019: 20%) (the percentage to be determined
by each of the government of the provinces,
autonomous regions or municipalities) of the
total salaries of the employees in mainland
China. Certain provinces, autonomous regions
or municipalities are overburdened by the
pension insurance due to higher number of
retired people, it is required to make specific
contributions at rates higher than 16%
(before 1 May 2019: 20%) (the percentage
to be determined by each of the government
of the provinces, autonomous regions or
municipalities) of the total salaries of the
employees upon approval of the ministry of
labour and the ministry of finance. The PRC
government is responsible for the pension
liability to the retired employees. The
employees of the subsidiaries are entitled to
a monthly pension at their retirement dates.
The subsidiaries have no further obligation for
post-retirement benefits beyond the annual

contributions.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

U]

Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and
movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities.
Current tax and movements in deferred tax assets
and liabilities are recognised in profit or loss except
to the extent that they relate to items recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in
which case the relevant amounts of tax are recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity,

respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the
taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted
or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting
period, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of

previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible
and taxable temporary differences respectively, being
the differences between the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their
tax bases. Deferred tax assets also arise from unused tax

losses and unused tax credits.

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred
tax liabilities, and all deferred tax assets to the extent
that it is probable that future taxable profits will be
available against which the asset can be utilised, are
recognised. Future taxable profits that may support
the recognition of deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences include those
that will arise from the reversal of existing taxable
temporary differences, provided those differences relate
to the same taxation authority and the same taxable
entity, and are expected to reverse either in the same
period as the expected reversal of the deductible
temporary difference or in periods into which a tax
loss arising from the deferred tax asset can be carried
back or forward. The same criteria are adopted when
determining whether existing taxable temporary
differences support the recognition of deferred tax
assets arising from unused tax losses and credits, that is,
those differences are taken into account if they relate
to the same taxation authority and the same taxable
entity, and are expected to reverse in a period, or

periods, in which the tax loss or credit can be utilised.
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2.4 SUM
POLI

U]

MARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
CIES (continued)

Income tax (continued)

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax
assets and liabilities are:

(i) the initial recognition of assets or liabilities
that affect neither accounting nor taxable
profit (provided they are not part of a business
combination); and

(ii)  temporary differences relating to investments
in subsidiaries to the extent that, in the case
of taxable differences, the Group controls the
timing of the reversal and it is probable that the
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable
future, or in the case of deductible differences,
unless it is probable that they will reverse in the

future.

The amount of deferred tax recognised is measured
based on expected manner of realisation or settlement
of the carrying amount of the assets and liabilities,
using tax rates enacted or substantially enacted at the
end of each reporting period. Deferred tax assets and

liabilities are not discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and is reduced to
the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient
taxable profits will be available to allow the related tax
benefit to be utilised. Any such reduction is reversed
to the extent that it becomes probable that sufficient

taxable profits will be available.

Additional income taxes that arise from the
distribution of dividends are recognised when the

liability to pay the related dividends is recognised.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

U]

(m)

Income tax (continued)

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and
movements therein, are presented separately from
each other and are not offset. Current tax assets are
offset against current tax liabilities, and deferred tax
assets against deferred tax liabilities, if the Company
or the Group has the legally enforceable right to set off
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the

following additional conditions are met:

(i) in the case of current tax assets and liabilities,
the Company or the Group intends either to
settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and

settle the liability simultaneously; or

(ii) in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities,
if they relate to income taxes levied by the same

taxation authority on either; or

. the same taxable entity; or

. different taxable entities, which, in
each future period in which significant
amounts of deferred tax liabilities or
assets are expected to be settled or
recovered, intend to realise the current
tax assets and settle the current tax
liabilities on a net basis or realise and

settle simultaneously.

Other provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for other liabilities of
uncertain timing or amount when the Group or the
Company has a legal or constructive obligation arising
as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow
of economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation and a reliable estimate can be made. Where
the time value of money is material, provisions are
stated at the present value of the expenditure expected

to settle the obligation.
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2.4 SUM
POLI

(m)

(n)

MARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
CIES (continued)

Other provisions and contingent liabilities
(continued)

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow
of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations,
whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future
events are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless
the probability of outflow of economic benefits is

remote.
Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when control over a product or
service is transferred to the customer at the amount of
promised consideration to which the Group is expected
to be entitled, excluding those amounts collected on
behalf of third parties. Revenue excludes value added
tax or other sales taxes and is after deduction of any

trade discounts.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(n)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Further details of the Group’s revenue recognition

policies are as follows:

(n)  WARER(EH)

A R A SR B\ BB R Z R I T

(i) Sale of goods (i) EmHE
Revenue is recognised when the customer takes WA T % P AL A I 42 52 3 IR
possession of and accepts the products. Sales e o R B b 2 B A b
returns are allowed only when the products are WA AR o SR & )7 A sk B
damaged or defective. For a contract where the RS 7R 1Y T 5 S IR S =2 TH) 4y
period between the payment by the customer —AER LT Z AW o B B
and the transfer of the promised goods or W i ME R SR 159 BB 632
services is one year or less, the transaction price HEREREZE  WRHER S
is not adjusted for the effects of a significant (=Rl NI Y -2
financing component, applying the practical T B R 43 FB AT T 2 Al
expedient in paragraph 63 of IFRS 15. If the &5 & BB W A > Rl
products are a partial fulfilment of a contract HH 3 8 o 8 B A L A A
covering other goods and/or services, then the SRR AW A WA &
amount of revenue recognised is an appropriate AR Z W > A FAR S
proportion of the total transaction price under R A B 70 L ) A S o R R
the contract, allocated between all the goods ik 10 B 40 BAE 2 IR A R —
and services promised under the contract on a AEDL T AR —# 4 A4
relative stand-alone selling price basis. As the V91 7 ) I % s k4 B AR 15
remaining performance obligations (if any) is B 121 Z BB ZE I
part of a contract that has an original expected BB G RE o B o A AR
duration of one year or less, the Group has 5 B A T R 2 LA ) Y
applied the practicable expedient in paragraph B A W R B 30 A — A s DA
121 of IFRS 15 and such information is not T A4 [ HI) Do I B i
disclosed. Besides, the Group recognises the R SR 1598 B ¥ 042 B B A
incremental costs of obtaining a contract as B2 HE A A R R R AR o
an expense when incurred if the amortisation
period of the assets that the Group otherwise
would have recognised is within one year or less,
applying the practical expedient in paragraph 94
of IFRS 15.

(i)  Dividends (i)  KE
Dividend income from unlisted investments KB I LR W R AT
is recognised when the shareholder’s right to JBE SR WC B K T Y E ) % o TR A
receive payment is established. o
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2.4 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(n)

Revenue recognition (continued)

(iii)

(iv)

Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues
under the effective interest method using the
rate that exactly discounts estimated future
cash receipts through the expected life of the
financial asset to the gross carrying amount of
the financial asset. For financial assets measured
at amortised cost or financial assets measured
at fair value through other comprehensive
income (“FVOCI”) (recycling) that are not
credit-impaired, the effective interest rate is
applied to the gross carrying amount of the
asset. For credit-impaired financial assets, the
effective interest rate is applied to the amortised
cost (i.e. gross carrying amount net of loss

allowance) of the asset.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised in the
statement of financial position initially when
there is reasonable assurance that they will
be received and that the Group will comply
with the conditions attaching to them. Grants
that compensate the Group for expenses
incurred are recognised as income in profit or
loss on a systematic basis in the same periods
in which the expenses are incurred. Grants
that compensate the Group for the cost of an
asset are deducted from the carrying amount
of the asset and consequently are effectively
recognised in profit or loss over the useful life
of the asset by way of reduced depreciation

expense.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(o)

Translation of foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions during the year are
translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at
the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated
at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the end of
the reporting period. Exchange gains and losses are
recognised in profit or loss, except those arising from
foreign currency borrowings used to hedge a net
investment in a foreign operation which are recognised

in other comprehensive income.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
translated using the foreign exchange rates ruling
at the transaction dates. The transaction date is the
date on which the Group initially recognises such
non-monetary assets or liabilities. Non-monetary assets
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that
are stated at fair value are translated using the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the dates the fair value was

measured.

For the purpose of presenting these financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the entities now
comprising the Group denominated in currencies other
than US$ are translated into US$, the presentation
currency of the Group, using exchange rates prevailing
at the end of each reporting period. Income and
expenses items are translated at the weighted average
exchange rates for the year. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive

income and in equity in exchange fluctuation reserve.
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Year ended 31 December 2023 B E _F =4+ _H=+—HILEE

2.4 SUM
POLI

(p)

(a)

MARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
CIES (continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of an asset
which necessarily takes a substantial period of time to
get ready for its intended use or sale are capitalised as
part of the cost of that asset. Other borrowing costs are

expensed in the period in which they are incurred.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of the cost
of a qualifying asset commences when expenditure for
the asset is being incurred, borrowing costs are being
incurred and activities that are necessary to prepare
the asset for its intended use or sale are in progress.
Capitalisation of borrowing costs is suspended or
ceases when substantially all the activities necessary to
prepare the qualifying asset for its intended use or sale

are interrupted or complete.
Related parties
(i) A person, or a close member of that person’s

family, is related to the Group if that person:

(a)

has control or joint control over the

Group; or

has significant influence over the Group;

or

is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or the Group’s

parent.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(a) Related parties (continued)

(ii)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the

following conditions applies:

(a)

the entity and the Group are members of
the same group (which means that each
parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is
related to the others).

one entity is an associate or joint
venture of the other entity (or an
associate or joint venture of a member
of a group of which the other entity is a

member).

both entities are joint ventures of the
same third party.

one entity is a joint venture of a
third entity and the other entity is an
associate of the third entity.

the entity is a post-employment benefit
plan for the benefit of employees of
either the Group or an entity related to
the Group.

the entity is controlled or jointly
controlled by a person identified in (i).

a person identified in (i)(a) has
significant influence over the entity or
is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of
the entity).

the entity, or any member of a group
of which it is a part, provides key
management personnel services to the
Group or to the Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those

family members who may be expected to influence, or

be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the

entity.
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Year ended 31 December 2023 B E _F =4+ _H=+—HILEE

2.4 SUM
POLI

(r)

(s)

MARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
CIES (continued)

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the financial statements, are identified
from the financial information provided regularly to
the Group’s management for the purposes of allocating
resources to, and assessing the performance of, the
Group’s various lines of business and geographical

locations.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the
segments have similar economic characteristics and are
similar in respect of the nature of products and services,
the nature of production processes, the type or class of
customers, the methods used to distribute the products
or provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory
environment. Operating segments which are not
individually material may be aggregated if they share a

majority of these criteria.
Contract liabilities

A contract liability is the obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the Group
has received a consideration (or an amount of
consideration that is due) from the customer. If a
customer pays the consideration before the Group
transfers goods or services to the customer, a contract
liability is recognised when the payment is made or
the payment is due (whichever is earlier). The Group
receives a certain percentage of the contract value as a
deposit from certain customers, which is recognised as a
contract liability. Contract liabilities are recognised as

revenue when the Group performs under the contract.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,

management has made the following accounting judgments

and estimates:

(a)

(b)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment

As explained in note 2.4(e)(ii), the impairment loss
for property, plant and equipment is recognised for
the amount by which the carrying amount exceeds
its recoverable amount when events or changes in
circumstance indicate the carrying amounts may not be
recoverable. The recoverable amount of the assets, or,
where appropriate, the cash generating unit to which
they belong, is the higher of its fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. The recoverable amounts are
determined based on fair value less costs of disposal
which are based on the best information available
to reflect the amount obtainable at the reporting
date, from the disposal of the asset in an arm’s length
transaction between knowledgeable and willing parties,
after deducting the costs of disposal. For the estimation
of value in use, the Group’s management estimates
future cash flows from the cash-generating units and
chooses a suitable discount rate in order to calculate

the present value of those cash flows.
Impairment of interest in joint ventures

Management reviews the carrying amounts of the
investments in joint ventures at the end of each
reporting period to determine whether there is
objective evidence of impairment. When indication
of impairment is identified, management assesses
the differences between the carrying amounts
and recoverable amounts and makes provision for
impairment loss. Any change in the assumptions
adopted in calculating the recoverable amount would
increase or decrease the provision for impairment loss
and affect the Group’s share of profit or loss of joint

ventures and interest in joint ventures in future years.
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4

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into
business units based on their products and services and has two

reportable operating segments:

. the biochemical segment is principally engaged in the
manufacture and/or sale of chlortetracycline and animal

health products; and

. the industrial segment is principally engaged in the
trading of machinery and the manufacture and sale of
automotive parts, through the Group’s joint venture

and associate.

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions about
resource allocation and performance assessment. Segment
performance is evaluated based on reportable segment profit,
which is a measure of adjusted profit before tax. The adjusted
profit before tax is measured consistently with the Group’s
profit before tax except that bank interest income, finance
costs and items not specifically attributed to individual
segments, such as head office or corporate administration

expenses are excluded from such measurements.

Segment assets exclude unallocated corporate assets.
Unallocated corporate assets include cash and cash
equivalents, income tax receivable and other assets that are

managed on a group basis.

Segment liabilities exclude unallocated corporate liabilities.
Unallocated corporate liabilities include bank borrowings,
income tax payables, deferred tax liabilities and other

liabilities that are managed on a group basis.

All revenue from contracts with customers is recognised
at the point in time when our customer obtains control of
the promised goods, i.e. when products are delivered to the
customers’ premises for domestic sales or in accordance with
the terms and conditions of sale for export sales. The major
product line of the Group is the manufacture and/or sale of
chlortetracycline and animal health products in biochemical

segment as disclosed in note 4(a).

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers by

geographical location of customers is disclosed in note 4(b)(i).
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CHIA TAI ENTERPRISES INTERNATIONAL LIMITED

X E B ER

Year ended 31

4 OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION
(continued)

(a)

Reportable operating segments

The following tables present revenue, profit or loss and

certain assets, liabilities and expenditure information

for the Group’s reportable operating segments for the
years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

Year ended 31 December 2023

A H

Notes to the Financial Statements

B 7% 3R & M 5
December 2023 ME-Z =4+ A=+ —HIL4ERE

4 RKETEER(E)

(a) TWERKEIE

LR $i3 A 45 1 2% 7] 2 4R A0 3
REEZR SRR DES D
A=+ —HIEFEERZBRA - #HiE &
HTEE - AREPER -

BEZ =T A=1THIREE

Biochemical Industrial
operations operations Total
HEALEH TEEHE kil
US$’000 US$’°000 US$’000
By an Fu T Fu T
Segment revenue 5B A
Sales to external customers HETIREF 173,979 - 173,979
Segment results SRER
The Group A4 123 (1,367) (1,244)
Share of profits and losses of: R Al Fi 1) B pes 48
Joint venture BEAE - 4,816 4,816
Associate =/ - 2,091 2,091
123 5,540 5,663
Reconciliation: WETIEE
Bank interest income SRAT R B 1,149
Finance costs B A (1,954)
Unallocated head office and A 43 L AR B A SEBH X
corporate expenses (1,915)
Profit before tax o A5 iy ¥4z A1 2,943
Other segment information It 43 28 % B
Depreciation and amortisation T T 8 6,391 - 6,391
Capital expenditure* AR B S 11,112 - 11,112

*

Including additions to property, plant and equipment.
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Year ended 31 December 2023 B E R =4+ A=+ —HILEE
OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4 BESBER (H])
(continued)
(a) Reportable operating segments (continued) (a) TWERKLEIE(E)
At 31 December 2023 R_E_=Z4ATF-H=Z1+—H
Biochemical Industrial
operations operations Total
AL TEET i
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000
FiwFi FFi FwFi
Segment assets R E 215,163 124,578 339,741
Reconciliation: WETEE
Unallocated corporate assets Ry HL A EE A 37,633
Total assets MK E 377,374
Segment liabilities A 39,118 22 39,140
Reconciliation: TEIEE
Unallocated corporate liabilities AR 43 HL A 2 AAE 86,216
Total liabilities =R 125,356
Other segment information It 43 28 % B
Investments in joint venture REBECENRE - 101,074 101,074
Investments in associate T 3 o m) B - 19,726 19,726
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B 7% 3R & M EE
Year ended 31 December 2023 RE X =4+ _H=+—HILF)¥
OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4 BESBER (HF)
(continued)
Reportable operating segments (continued) (a) TWERKLEIE(E)
Year ended 31 December 2022 BEZFCEFT A= —HILEE
Biochemical Industrial
operations operations Total
AL EH THEW A
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000
FIL T T S on 7 on
Segment revenue Vg LN
Sales to external customers HETIREF 159,239 - 159,239
Segment results o3 8 3 A
The Group A4 8,163 (1,681) 6,482
Share of profits and losses of: A i B B s 4
Joint venture GEAAE - (9,006) (9,000)
Associate I 2 ] - 2,134 2,134
8,163 (8,553) (390)
Reconciliation: WETEE
Bank interest income SRAT A B WA 368
Finance costs 5 AR (994)
Unallocated head office and A 3 BE 48R R A 2B X
corporate expenses (1,733)
Loss before tax o A6 i A 18 (2,749)
Other segment information At 4y 3R
Depreciation and amortisation B 8 T B B 6,925 - 6,925
Capital expenditure* B A B S 15,771 - 15,771
* Including additions to property, plant and equipment. * B ~ BB B 2By o
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Year ended 31 December 2023 B E R =4+ A=+ —HILEE
4 OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4 reEHER ()
(continued)
(a) Reportable operating segments (continued) (a) TWERKLEIE(E)
At 31 December 2022 RoFZCHET A=+ —H
Biochemical Industrial
operations operations Total
AL THEW A
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000
E Sy S n Fo T T
Segment assets SR E R 193,138 126,547 319,685
Reconciliation: WETEE
Unallocated corporate assets Ry HL A EE A 30,900
Total assets MK E 350,585
Segment liabilities S AE 37,716 19 37,735
Reconciliation: TEIEE
Unallocated corporate liabilities AR 43 HL A 2 AAE 57,098
Total liabilities =R 94,833
Other segment information It 43 28 % B
Investments in joint venture REBEEERRE - 102,122 102,122
Investments in associate i RN R U ' 2 - 19,880 19,880
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Year ended 31 December 2023 B E _-ZF =4+ _H=+—H IL4E)¥
4 OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4 reEHER (E)
(continued)
(b) Geographical information (b) i & & #
(i) Revenue from external customers () XKEIKEFZKA
2023 2022
US$’000 US$ 000
E Syl an FoLFo
Mainland China o ok 107,950 83,294
Americas XMW 24,647 29,099
Asia Pacific ah A Hb [
(excluding mainland China) (A AL 55 o 3 K ) 28,725 24,354
Europe ik 5,157 16,430
Elsewhere H At 3 J5 7,500 6,062
173,979 159,239
The revenue information shown above is based EFVU A E R T %% PO A
on the location of customers. .
(i) Non-current assets (i) FREBEE

(c)

At 31 December 2023, 99% (2022: 99%) of
the Group’s non-current assets are located in

W_F_=F#+"_A=+—
H s AREE 99% (B4R

mainland China. 99%) = FEI B A A 3 AL
KBE -
Information about major customers (c) FEEFEHR

The Group had the following customer (including
sales to entities are known to the Group to be under
common control with this customer) with whom
transactions have exceeded 10% of the Group’s revenue 110% :
during the year:

ACHE [ B DLE & 5 (69 R AR 45 W
W% % % P G IR R R A B B
W) 238 Ty RO AR R 4E A

2023 2022

TR S~

US$’000 US$’000

7L Tt Fr T
High Orient Enterprises Limited (“HOEL”) High Orient Enterprises Limited
and its related entity, excluding C. P. (THOELJ) K HBE A% > A
Pokphand Co., Ltd. and its subsidiaries B B A B A St

(“CPP Group”) Bt S A D (T Mg ) 49,726 34,431

An independent third party customer from — %3 H 3 [ (%) % 57
United States BEER N/A* 16,429
* Not exceeded 10% of the Group’s revenue during the * A% 7 A A A T A AR Y LA 10%
year
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Year ended 31 December 2023 #E R =42 =4 — H IRF K

5 REVENUE 5 LN
Revenue represents the aggregate of the invoiced value of W A H5 o3k 14 B B BORT B I > R B R £
goods sold, net of value-added tax and government surcharges, BB 5 P dnfg 2 R B 8 5T g a0 A B
and after allowances for goods returned and trade discounts FoF 75 e o5 1 R AH 1S 9% 0 A I P AR o BT 4R
recognised within the scope of IFRS 15. All of the Group’s Mz WA 2R B AL ET -

revenue is from the biochemical segment.

6 OTHER INCOME, NET 6 Hi W A F8E
An analysis of other income, net is as follows: H AW N FH AW -
2023 2022
US$’000 US$’000

7 T 70 FLT T

Bank interest income SRAT A B 1,149 368
Government grants BT il B 1,143 1,030
Gain/(loss) on disposal of property, plant and HEWE - MR K fEifl,
equipment, net () FH 29 (110)
Foreign exchange differences, net A P S 2 B R (303) (1,620)
Others H Aty 507 569
2,525 237
7 FINANCE COSTS 7 B 7 B A
2023 2022
-~ RO
US$’000 US$’000
F L Fi Enyan
Interest expense on bank borrowings AT R Z A B E 2,883 1,664
Less: Interest expense capitalised* W R B & Ak (929) (670)
1,954 994
* Interest expense was capitalised at interest rate based on the * F 8 2 & ARAL TG % & Bk 2 )
respective loan facilities of 3.30% - 5.05% per annum (2022: R330%F5.05%(F Z 4F)  FR R
3.75% — 5.35% per annum). 3.75%%5.35%) 75 ©
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CHIA TAI ENTERPRISES INTERNATIONAL LIMITED

E X &© ¥ 8 B &R 2 A

Notes to the Financial Statements

B 7% R & M =
Year ended 31 December 2023 E R =4 T _H=1—HIL4)E
PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX 8 BRELATER (EE)
The Group’s profit/(loss) before tax is arrived at after A 4 [ BB W R A O 1R) 840 B R B 4%
charging: H
2023 2022
Note US$’000 US$’000

Mt it FIL Tt FKL T 7T

Cost of inventories sold BB AR 140,213 120,050
Depreciation of property, plant and ERE U &k P

equipment 14 6,336 6,786
Amortisation of land lease prepayments TEAF - L 2 15 55 139
Impairment of trade receivables, net JHE W B 5 W 3 0 A1 v (3) (78)

Expense relating to short-term leases (lease B AL & (FH B 1 55 R sk A
term of 12 months or less) and/or leases of  JA12M8 A ) 5 &S REEE

low-value assets EMEZEH 448 370
Auditors’ remuneration A I F T 4 240 265
Employee benefit expenses (including I B A2 (G S 4 -

directors’ emoluments — note 9) B 529)

Wages, salaries and benefits in kind TE& ~ #He MIEBLH 2 17,640 24,365

Pension scheme contributions B R 4 itk 1,544 1,631
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CHIA TAI ENTERPRISES INTERNATIONAL LIMITED

E X &© ¥ 8 B &FR 2 A

Notes to the Financial Statements

B 5 3R & MY &
Year ended 31 December 2023 B E _F =4+ _H=+—HILEE
9 DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS 9 EEME

Directors’ emoluments, disclosed pursuant to Section 383(1)

of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the

Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of BwWE -

Directors) Regulation are as follows:

MR W W R 26383 (DR R A W] (IR 3
5 25 EORE) AL SE A ALE >

Salaries,
allowances, Retirement
and benefits  Discretionary scheme
Fees in kind bonuses  contributions Total
B~ R
we  EHeHE WA RIS ik
US$°000 US$°000 US$°000 US$°000 US$000
FnFr FLFr FLTr FLTn ErTn
Year ended 31 December 2023 BREZZ_=H120
ZEt—HIEE
Chairman and non-executive director: BERRFUGES:
Mr. Soopakij Chearavanont RPN % - - - - -
Executive directors: BfEE:
M. Thirayut Phityaisarakul BB - - - - -
Mr. Thanakorn Seriburi BRI - 532 - - 532
Mr. Nopadol Chiaravanont ARNEE - - - - -
Mr. Chawalit Na Muangtoun R - 452 69 - 521
- 984 69 - 1,053
Non-executive director: FOfHEE
Mr. Yoichi Ikezoe iR — A - - - - -
Independent non-executive directors: BukdmEs:
Mr. Surasak Rounroengrom Surasak Rounroengrom %G 31 - - - 31
Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo WEAE A 31 - - - 31
M. Edward Ko Ming Tung L Sk 31 - - - 31
Ms. Cheung Marn Kay HEHLL
(appointed on 23 February 2024) (R_BZNEZAZT=H
BEH) ; - ] ; ]
93 - - - 93
Total directors’ emoluments PR RS 93 984 69 - 1,146
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CHIA TAI ENTERPRISES INTERNATIONAL LIMITED

E K & % B A R 4 7
Notes to the Financial Statements
B 7% 3R & M EE
Year ended 31 December 2023 RE X =4+ _H=+—HILF)¥
DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (continued) 9 E=EMS (E)
Salaries,
allowances, Retirement
and benefits  Discretionary scheme
Fees in kind bonuses  contributions Total
Hi e R
wa  EHEME WiEka  REKER ok
US$°000 US§$°000 US$°000 US§$°000 US$°000
Eyon Eyaan FIL T E I FL T
Year ended 31 December 2022 E I
FIAZ—HIREE
Chairman and non-executive director: BERREUGES:
Mr. Soopakij Chearavanont i N - - - - -
Executive directors: PHES:
M. Thirayut Phityaisarakul BHBEA - - - - -
Mr. Thanakorn Seriburi EMRELE - 532 - - 532
Mr. Nopadol Chiaravanont WRNEAE - - - - -
Mr. Chawalit Na Muangtoun Bk - 501 94 - 595
- 1,033 94 - 1,127
Non-executive director: FUHES:
Mr. Yoichi Ikezoe iRk - - - - -
Independent non-executive directors: BukamEs:
Mr. Surasak Rounroengrom Surasak Rounroengrom 62 31 - - - 31
Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo WA A 31 - - - 31
Mr. Edward Ko Ming Tung LIRS 31 - - - 31
93 - - - 93
Total directors’ emoluments FEES L 93 1,033 94 - 1,220
ANNUAL REPORT 2023
117

- g =

= F F K



118

CHIA TAI ENTERPRISES INTERNATIONAL LIMITED

E X &© ¥ 8 B &R D

Notes to the Financial Statements

B 5 3R & MY &
Year ended 31 December 2023 B E _F =4+ _H=+—HILEE

9 DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (continued) 9

During the year ended 31 December 2023, no emolument

was paid by the Group to the directors as an inducement to

join or upon joining the Group as compensation for loss of
office (2022: nil), and there was no arrangement under which

a director waived or agreed to waive any emoluments (2022:

nil).

10

10 FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees during the year included two
(2022: two) directors. Details of the emoluments are set out in
note 9 above. The emoluments of the remaining three (2022:

three) non-directors are as follows:

B

EEME (B

REREZFRD =T ZA=FHIREE
A 5 ] SN 08 S A PO < 4 5 S DL B A A AR 4R
VB 7 i A\ A 4 A 2 I T 2 4L Al
(SR AE ), I 0 JHE T o 0 ) R
AL &2 L (ZF 4 ) -

TNBEHFMES

BN Tobr iR H R B B 52 (2%
A 24r) FEE > L MEESE SRR B
BFRE o B T3 (ZF 4 34r) R H
Z &

2023 2022

US$’000 US$’000

F L FiL FLF

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind F - E A & JEB A A 2 651 677
Discretionary bonus 1% 6 4L 69 60
720 737

The number of non-director highest paid employees whose

emoluments fell within the following bands is set out below:

US$128,001 to US$192,000 (equivalent to
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000)

US$192,001 to US$256,000 (equivalent to
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000)

US$256,001 to US$320,000 (equivalent to
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000)

ANNUAL REPORT 2023

Jie 150 3 I =0 A N B DA B0 4 8
mE

128,0013¢ 56 £192,00034 76
(HI % 721,000,001 # 7C &
1,500,000 J5)

192,00134 7€ %256,0003& 50
(1% 21,500,001 #6 7T =
2,000,000 7T

256,0015% 78 £320,0003& 74
(FH 7 42,000,001 3 78 =
2,500,000 J5)

2023 2022
Number of Number of
individuals individuals

LS #HH EAHH
1 1
2 2
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B % ] & Mt &=
Year ended 31 December 2023 E R =4 T _H=1—HIL4)E
FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 10 EfuESFMES (&)
(continued)
During the year ended 31 December 2023, no emolument was WRE_FR_=Z=F T H=1T—HIEEE
paid by the Group to any of the five highest paid employees 7 45 T i 06 57 A T 4 45 A g v S TR E 2
as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group as FEA] — A% > DL i A A 45 18 s A i A AR 4
compensation for loss of office (2022: nil). [ Ry AR A R BRI AR A (SR A
) o
INCOME TAX 11 FEH
No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made for the % A VB A A AT B SR AE A s B AR 4 JRE R
year as the Group did not generate any assessable profits in WA > B AR ARAE AW R SR8 (2
Hong Kong during the year (2022: nil). TR ) o
Subsidiaries operating in the People’s Republic of China R4 v B £ S T A BB 5 5 b B N R L A
(“PRC”) are subject to income tax at the rate of 25% (2022: 0 (T o ) 468 88 2 i B 2 ) 5 it L SRR I
25%) on their taxable income according to the PRC corporate AFEBER25% (R 4R 2 25%) MR PR
income tax laws. In accordance with the relevant tax rules and i o MR BRI 2 A BB S I i ] s A4
regulations in the PRC, certain subsidiaries of the Group in Ly P e g A R S e A
the PRC enjoy income tax exemptions or reductions. BRZEE-
2023 2022
Note US$’000 US$’000
Mt LT FoTx
Current — the PRC AR
Charge for the year AR JBE 37 512 999
Under/(Over) — provision in prior years A (25 18 (274)
Deferred AR JE 28 527 785
Total tax expense for the year A P T A 3 Hh 1,057 1,510
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CHIA TAI ENTERPRISES INTERNATIONAL LIMITED

E K &

Notes to the Financial Statements

B 5 3R & MY &
Year ended 31 December 2023 B E _F =4+ _H=+—HILEE

11

12

INCOME TAX (continued)

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit

before tax at the statutory rates for PRC in which the Group

ES

BB ERSA

11 FrE® (&)

2 v 1 (A 5 I T B T R ) Y 3 B R B
B e I 58 i v ) 4 e 5 T ) BB I ¢

principally operates to the tax expense is as follows: BIFHE R T
2023 2022
US$’000 US$’000
B/ n FIL T
Profit/(loss) before tax 53 56 iy ez A/ (s 18 2,943 (2,749)
Tax expense on profit before tax, calculated at the % H [ 4> 38 Fir 19 BB 2 25% K&
PRC corporate income tax rate of 25% Ik A5 i i P T P B S 736 (687)
Lower tax rates enacted by local tax authority i S M I B SR AR =2 BRI
LS (715) (794)
Effect of withholding tax at 10% on the A 4 [ v B 2 R D
distributable profit of the Group’s subsidiaries, BB AR BB A W) W 43 T
joint venture and associate in PRC I FT S HBE10% Z 5 676 782
Under/(over)-provision in prior years HEELS (%) 5 18 (273)
Profits and losses attributable to joint venture and  MEAY & %5 A 2 J W 45 /A 5] % A
associate Ko 18 (1,727) 1,718
Expense not deductible for tax AR BT H 2,069 164
Tax expense at the Group’s effective tax rate P AR B A RUOBE R ET E BL
> 1,057 1,510

DIVIDEND

The Board has resolved not to declare a dividend for the year

ended 31 December 2023 (2022: nil).

12 RE

EHRETERARBERE_F_=F1+2H

St HIREEZRE (SR ) -
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CHIA TAI ENTERPRISES INTERNATIONAL LIMITED

E X &© ¥ 8 B &R 2 A

Notes to the Financial Statements

Bt 7% 3R 3k M EE
Year ended 31 December 2023 RE X =4+ _H=+—HILF)¥

EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE 13 FLATRREEZERER(HE)
ATTRIBUTABLE TO SHAREHOLDERS OF
THE COMPANY
The calculation of basic earnings/(loss) per share is based on FWRARRR EHR)EHZ 5 E IR EAR
the profit/(loss) for the year attributable to shareholders of the o ] B R E A AR AR B A (B TR M AE R B
Company and the weighted average number of ordinary shares BEAT 205 4 B T T At B B S B I RE T 34 8 o
and convertible preference shares in issue during the year.
The calculation of basic earnings/(loss) per share is based on BERIEARBR] () TIHR 58 DL St oa
the following data:
2023 2022
US$’000 US$’000
E e B an
Earnings/(loss) BB )
Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to P 554 B R AR i A (5 18
shareholders of the Company, used in ZAS oy ) JBe AR A A
the basic earnings/(loss) per share calculation M, (EH) 2,553 (6,677)
2023 2022
- S TR THE
Shares JB& 1y
Weighted average number of ordinary shares and ~ FARFHEE R EEAR R R, (E1])
convertible preference shares in issue during ZARFECEITZ B R &
the year, used in the basic earnings/(loss) per ] 6 B R Sl I o RE S 3 8
share calculation 253,329,087 253,329,087

PRI EER RO DEL A=+ H
b 4 3 S TSI 8 R AL 4 o A B > WO B
WA O 1) M S5 R 5 R R AR R, O

As there were no potential dilutive ordinary shares during
the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, the amount of

diluted earnings/(loss) per share is equal to basic earnings/

(loss) per share.

#) -
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E K f&© ¥

Notes to the Financial Statements

Bt 75 ¥R R MY &

BB ERSA

Year ended 31 December 2023 B E _F =4+ _H=+—HILEE
14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

14 HPE -BERRE

Furniture, Motor
fixtures  vehicles and
Industrial Plant and and office transport  Construction
buildings machinery equipment facilities in progress Total
frf - KB R Rk
LEBT MR RES HAR i FRLE b
Note US$000 US$000 US$000 US$000 US$000 US$°000
Wi Fitr Fitr Fitr it it it
(note (a))
(Hitta)
At 1 January 2023 RZFZZE--R.
Cost Bk 47,078 67,957 11,677 1,562 28,876 157,150
Accumulated depreciation and A R
impairment (14,215) (41,595) (6,351) (1,142) - (63,303)
Net carrying amount e 32,863 26,362 5,326 420 28,876 93,847
Net carrying amount: W
At 1 January 2023 RZZZZHE—F—H 32,863 26,36 5,326 420 28,876 93,847
Additions e 62 464 486 48 10,052 1,112
Depreciation provided during the A W&
year 8 (1,744) (2,966) (1,332) (294) - (6,336)
Transfer inf(ou) HAH) 10811 13,115 1,566 1 (25,493) -
Exchange realignment I (946) (779) (150) (24) (1) (2,672)
At 31 December 2023 RERZZEAZAZ -0 41,046 36,196 5,89 151 12,662 95,951
At 31 December 2023 REBZEEFZAZT-H
Cost Bk 56,547 79,038 13,318 616 12,662 162,181
Accumulated depreciation and LEEE Y e
impairment (15,501) (42,842) (7,422) (465) - (66,230)
Net carrying amount TR 41,046 36,196 5,896 151 12,662 95,951
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Notes to the Financial Statements

Bt 7% 3R 3k M EE
Year ended 31 December 2023 RE X =4+ _H=+—HILF)¥

14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14 ¥ KBERSE (E)
(continued)
Furniture, Motor
fixtures vehicles and
Industrial Plant and and office transport  Construction
buildings machinery equipment facilities in progress Total
[kl %ER e
TEBT  HERES AR B HRIR Gk
Note US§'000 US§'000 US§'000 US§'000 US§'000 US§'000
it Erfx FLFL FLFr FLFr FLFr FLFL
(note (a))
(Witta)
At 1 January 2022 REFZZE-R-H:
Cost Bk 50,806 09,976 11,686 1,615 19977 154,060
Accumulated depreciation and AT E R
impairment (13,204) (41,281) (5,845) (1,144) - (61,474)
Net carrying amount TR A 37,602 28,693 5841 411 19,977 92,586
Net carrying amount: TR
At 1 January 2022 RZZZZE-H—H 37,602 28,693 5,841 411 19977 92,586
Additions HE 180 1,358 969 97 13,167 15,111
Depreciation provided during the £ W&
year 8 (2,076) (3,267) (1352) 1) - (6,786)
Transfe inf(out) HAIH) 9 1363 - 5 (2469) -
Disposals i (1) (49) (33) 27 - (110)
Exchange realignment B (2939) (1738) (99) (35) (1,803) (1614)
At 31 December 2022 RERZZEAZA=-0 31,863 26,36 5306 10 18876 93,847
At 31 December 2022 REFZZHEFZAZ-R:
Cost Bk 47078 67957 11,677 1,562 28876 157,150
Accumulated depreciation and LEE Ve i
impairment (14,215) (41,595) (6,351) (1,142) - (63,303)
Net carrying amount WA 32,803 26,362 5,326 420 28,876 93,847
ANNUAL REPORT 2023
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E X &© ¥ 8 B &FR 2 A

Notes to the Financial Statements

BY 75 3% K M 5%

Year ended 31 December 2023 B E _F =4+ _H=+—HILEE

14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14
(continued)
Notes:

(a) At 31 December 2023, certain of the Group’s industrial
buildings with an aggregate carrying amount of
US$29,105,000 (2022: US$8,824,000) were pledged to secure

certain bank borrowings of the Group (note 26(a)).

(b) Ownership certificates of certain properties with an aggregate
carrying amount of US$283,000 (2022: US$298,000) at 31

December 2023 are yet to be obtained.

M2 BERRE (&)

(a) WoZ =2+ -HA=+—H > &K%&H
AR A 42,9105 %8 (F
AE 18824 KL XET LEMT B
A By A S5 T 25 T SR AT AV AR SR AT 5 (B
26(a)) °

(b) Mo ZHE+H=Z+—H  REEW
Rt AR HE S 283830 (R
4E 1298 KEo0) 2 FH T RBUS B HE

o
15 LAND LEASE PREPAYMENTS 15 FBENLTwHEEE
2023 2022
Note US$’000 US$’000

Mt BV in FIL T
Carrying amount at 1 January W—H— HRmEE 5,755 5,755
Amortisation provided during the year AF P9 FH PR R 8 (55) (139)
Exchange realignment e e, i % (235) (448)
Carrying amount at 31 December /A = B pll = BT T < 4,878 5,168
Note: Mt

At 31 December 2023, certain of the Group’s leasehold land
with an aggregate carrying amount of US$4,693,000 (2022:
US$4,924,000) were pledged to secure certain bank borrowings
of the Group (note 26(a)).

ANNUAL REPORT 2023

M-BZEZFFZA=Z+—H > REEAFHEE
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E X &© ¥ 8 B &R 2 A

Notes to the Financial Statements
B 7% 3R & M 5

Year ended 31 December 2023 RE X =4+ _H=+—HILF)¥

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 16

Investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost. Particulars of the

principal subsidiaries are as follows:

Place of  Nominal value of

incorporation/ issued and
Company name operations paid-up capital
C#ITk
ACES O % JE 3 B R e A T
Pucheng Chia Tai Biochemistry Co., Ltd. PRC/PRC RMB189,890,000
(Notes (i) and (ii)) R 189,890,000\ R
THMIERAELERAH
(Wit (i) & (i)
Zhumadian Huazhong Chia Tai Co., Ltd. PRC/PRC RMB72,000,000
(Notes (i) and (ii)) R 72,000,000 R¥E
BEIG G # v IE KA A A
(Mt (i) & (i)
Notes:

(i) The official name of the entity is in Chinese. The English

name is for identification purpose only.
(ii) Registered as a contractual joint venture under the PRC law.

The above table lists out the subsidiaries of the Company
which, in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the
Group’s profit and losses or formed a substantial portion of the
Group. To give details of all the other subsidiaries would, in
the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive

length.

ANNUAL REPORT 2023

REBARNKRE

TP BEE Jag 2 B 45 TG R AR B B o 4% T2 BEHE
J& 2w Z R

Percentage of attributable
equity interest held by

Company Group Principal activities
M AW 5 4 T M T

A A FEEH

- 69.7% Manufacturing

and sale of

chlortetracycline and
animal health products
HWER/ HEERER
B4

- 69.7% Manufacturing
and sale of

chlortetracycline and

animal health products

WER/ HESRER

B g

(i) 3y AN Y L € RS &
1 -

(i) AU B R A A A

b B B R Z A A E > R
Hy > R RBBACAE SR A AN AC AR
AR ER Ay o HEHE R o B BT A I A I R A
A AR B R R R TR -
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E K & #¥ B A& R 4 7
Notes to the Financial Statements
B 7% R 3R MY EE
Year ended 31 December 2023 HME _F =4+ _H=+—H L4
17 INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURE 17 REELENER
2023 2022
- S TR
Note US$’000 US$’000
M &t Sy an FoLFoo
Interests in joint venture, included in non- R &&AEMRER > B ERIE
current assets: MBEEN :
Share of net assets FEAY B (a) 101,074 102,122
Interests in joint venture HEESEVRERS 101,074 102,122

Notes:

(a)

Particulars of the principal joint venture, which is in

held by the Company, are as follows:

Place of

directly

Nominal value of

i

A A W) B R 2 B2 A SRR
T

(a)

Percentage of

Company name

AR

ECI Metro Investment

Co., Ltd.

incorporation/ issued and paid-up

operations

RS/ 3

British Virgin
Islands/

Hong Kong
e o 4 1 2
AP

capital
AT I
B0 e AR T L

US$12,000,000
12,000,0003 7€

ECI Metro Investment Co., Ltd (“ECI Metro Investment”)

was established by the Group with an independent third party

investor, to distribute Caterpillar products in the western part

of the PRC.

ECI Metro Investment is an unlisted corporate entity whose

quoted market price is not available.

ANNUAL

REPORT 2023

RAEASL

Interest
attributable to Principal
the Group  Profit sharing activities

A 4 1
JRE A B i JRE A ¥ ) ELiE 37
50% 50% Investment
holding and
trading of

machinery and
spare parts
By
b e
T 5

ECI Metro Investment Co., Ltd. ([ ECI
Metro Investment]) HI A 4 B B — i 8 57
S5 =057 OB B o DA v R R [ 43
B 1R R 0 B E o

ECI Metro Investment % 3 I 7 35 il i A&
AR o
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INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURE

E X & ¥

(continued)

Notes: (continued)

(b)

Summarised financial information of ECI Metro Investment

H B AR DA

Notes to the Financial Statements

Bt 5 3R 2k MY &

Year ended 31 December 2023 RE X =4+ _H=+—HILF)¥

17 REELENER (E)

Mt &k« (4)

and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “ECI Metro Group”),

adjusted for any differences in accounting policy, and a

(b)

€ S BOR WA ] 25 AR B4R > ECI
Metro Investment 3 Bt B 2 %] (5 4% [ ECI
MetrofE B 1) 1) B %5 R 22 » o A A 75

reconciliation to the carrying amount in these financial WEMRTHESRESENT
statements, are disclosed below:
2023 2022
- S TR THE
US$’000 US$’000
i i FLFo
Gross amounts of ECI Metro Group’s: ECI Metro B DL 4 JEL iy 485

Currents assets o A 260,823 263,600

Non-current assets I By A 48,461 55,147

Current liabilities By £ 97,515 101,710

Non-current liabilities B BB E 9,621 12,794

Equity RE 25 202,148 204,243
Included in the above assets and liabilities: #F A %t & & & £ 15 -

Cash and cash equivalents BHEe RS EY 78,836 70,042
Revenue WA 322,782 327,026
Profit/(loss) from operations meEm A/ (ER) 9,633 (18,011)
Other comprehensive loss At 2 Vi 5 4R (6,137) (18,863)
Total comprehensive income/(loss) SR/ (1) A 3,496 (36,874)
Dividend declared 43 L B A (5,587) -
Included in the above profit/(loss): s A L a g A (R ) ¢

Depreciation and amortisation R B g (6,098) (7,190)

Interest income B WA 3,009 1,350

Interest expense A &2 H (1,024) (887)

Income tax credit Bt 45 B 1K 383 3,281
Reconciled to the Group’s interest in ECl B AS4E [ JAECI MetrofE B HE 25

Metro Group: F) SR

ECI Metro Group’s net assets ECI MetroE H & /& B 202,148 204,243

Group effective interest A SR AT RUORE A 50% 50%

Carrying amount in the consolidated fok A B 5 R 2 1 R G A

financial statements 101,074 102,122
ANNUAL REPORT 2023
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E K &© ¥ B A& R 4 7
Notes to the Financial Statements
B 7% R 3R MY EE
Year ended 31 December 2023 HME _F =4+ _H=+—H L4
INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATE 18 REEATINER
2023 2022
Note US$’000 US$’000
M &t Sy an FoLFoo
Interests in associate, included in non- I 2 2\ R P RE RS
current assets: BERIERBEEN :
Share of net assets FEAY B (a) 19,726 19,880
Due from associate, included in JFE WL W 2% A\ ) K OE
prepayments, deposits and other &R AT IR
receivables 32 4 T 3 Al JE LB K 3,757 4523
Interests in associate T gk 28 o\ =] B RE 2% 23,483 24,403
Notes: it :

(a)

by the Company, are as follows:

Place of

Particulars of the principal associate, which is indirectly held

Nominal value of

incorporation/ issued and paid-up

Company name operations
B,
A B B
Zhanjiang Deni Vehicle Parts PRC/PRC
Co., Lud. o /P
TR B B AR A R ]
ANNUAL

capital

TR

BB AT A SR 9 G A B 2

US$21,250,000
21,250,000 7

REPORT 2023

B A 7 TR B A B O W R
T

Percentage of

FAESL
Interest
attributable to Profit Principal
the Group sharing activities
JRE A % EcUiE 37
28% 28% Manufacture

and sale of

automotive parts
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Notes to the Financial Statements

Bt 5 3R 2k MY &

Year ended 31 December 2023 RE X =4+ _H=+—HILF)¥
18 INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATE (continued) 18 REZ QXTHNESR

Notes: (continued) Mtat « (4)

(b) The Group’s interests in associate are regarded as not (b)

individually material. The following table summarises, in

AR T S S8 A A5 1 ) T T
B o T ANt DARE 5 15 51 R A I 8

S|

aggregate, the financial information of the associate that are i 1 B 5 ORE AR L -
accounted for using the equity method:
2023 2022
US$’000 US$’000
B FIL T
Carrying amount in the consolidated financial T B A B s kR Y MR T
statements 19,726 19,880
Amounts of the Group’s share of associate: AR SR 1) A W A )
Profit from operations 795 Vs A 2,091 2,134
Other comprehensive income Al 2 v WA 2 (505) (1,770)
Total comprehensive income 2 Th WL 25 4 AR 1,586 364
19 OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS 19 HERBEE
The Group’s other non-current assets as at 31 December 2023 AREER —F =T A= —HH AL
represent deposits paid for land use right. I Bl A A e A T R Y 4 o
20 INVENTORIES 20 ®FE
2023 2022
US$’000 US$’000
#JL T 7T EF
Raw materials 5 Rk 6,542 6,971
Work in progress e 15,783 20,149
Finished goods JEE B 17,365 18,614
39,690 45,734
ANNUAL REPORT 2023
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CHIA TAI ENTERPRISES INTERNATIONAL LIMITED

E K & ¥ B A R o 7
Notes to the Financial Statements
B 75 ] 3 Mt &=
Year ended 31 December 2023 #E R =ZF 2 H =+ — HILF S
21 TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES 21 EBURESERIRERE
2023 2022
US$’000 US$’000
E e E/nyan
Trade receivables JRE W B B R 3k 61,810 40,863
Bills receivable R W 1,474 -
63,284 40,863
Depending on the requirements of the market and business, WA T 5 REH TR > REMSKHTEP
the Group may extend credit to its customers. The Group seeks 5 S o AR 4R T S 4 MR AR BRI B A 2 B
to maintain strict control over its outstanding receivables. Pe o HWHE G E AR Z 45K > &l
Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by management RE & 1 AS SR 1 2% v 35 ) 7 e =2 ) R0
and interest may be charged by the Group for overdue trade IR - HERZN > REMGHE W HE
receivables at rates determined by the Group with reference oA B VB o A I A A Y A R B SR B R Wi
to market practice. In the opinion of the directors, there is no B 5 Wk B S 1 A A W i B R B < N T B
significant concentration of credit risk. Further details on the FE33(b) o REFEWHE ZIRAKFEHRZIE
Group’s credit policy and credit risk arising from trade and ot (A8 A ERENT -
bills receivables are set out in note 33(b). An aging analysis
of the Group’s trade and bills receivables, based on the date of
delivery of goods, is as follows:
2023 2022
US$’000 US$’000
E Ve F T
Trade and bills receivables: JE W B 2 Bk B S
60 days or below 60HEPLT 35,323 18,117
61 to 180 days 61%180H 19,033 14,746
Over 180 days Z A 180H 8,928 8,000
63,284 40,863
Note: Btk

Included in the Group’s trade receivables as at 31 December 2023
were aggregate amounts of US$36,646,000 (2022: US$18,861,000) due
from related companies, arising from transactions carried out in the
ordinary course of business of the Group. The balances are unsecured,
bear interest at rates determined by the Group after past due and are
repayable within credit periods similar to those offered by the Group to

its independent third party customers.

ANNUAL REPORT 2023
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Notes to the Financial Statements
B 7% 3R & M 5

Year ended 31 December 2023 RE X =4+ _H=+—HILF)¥

PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 22 FBENER RERHEHMEWERR
RECEIVABLES
2023 2022
US$’000 US$’000
F L FiL S/ arn
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables FEMIER -~ ##E R
b JRE MR K 14,453 11,866
Note: et -
Included in the Group’s prepayments, deposits and other receivables REAPN _-Z =+ H=1+—HZHEMNE#K -
as at 31 December 2023 was an aggregate amount of US$3,757,000 ¥4 B H A R R R > B AT TEFE (S
(2022: US$4,523,000) and US$218,000 (2022: US$20,000) due TR 452383 00) Kel.8HiE (ZEF
from associate and related companies respectively. The balances are A1 2.0853ET0) 43 I A RE W 2 A W B B LA W 2
unsecured, interest-free and with no fixed terms of repayment. SKIE o SRR AR 0B B S 1 SR kY o
CASH AND BANK BALANCES AND OTHER 23 He&RBITERREMESHRER
CASH FLOW INFORMATION
2023 2022
US$’000 US$’000
F L Fi Sy arn
Cash and bank balances Bl RBITH G
other than time deposits (A5 A7) 13,107 9,861
Time deposits E AT 24,499 20,998
Total cash and bank balances Bl 4 % SR AT A7 K AR 37,606 30,859
Notes: Mt -

(a) At 31 December 2023, the cash and bank balances of the
Group denominated in Renminbi (“RMB”) amounted
to RMB64,098,000 equivalent to US$9,028,000 (2022:
RMB37,429,000 equivalent to US$5,424,000). RMB is not
freely convertible into other currencies. However, under
mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations
and Administration of Settlement, the Group is permitted to
exchange RMB into other currencies through banks authorised

to conduct foreign exchange business.

ANNUAL REPORT 2023

(a) MR-B_=ZHF+_A=Z+—H > REH
UNRWFHE M B4 RMTASRE AR
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X E B ER2A

Year ended 31 December 2023 B E _F =4+ _H=+—HILEE

23

Notes: (continued)

(b)

bank deposit rates. Time deposits are made for varying
periods depending on the cash requirement of the Group, and
earn interest at the respective time deposit rates. The bank

balances are deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent

history of default.

The table below sets out changes in the group’s liabilities
from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash
changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are
liabilities for which cash flow were, or future cash flow will be,

classified in the Group’s consolidated cash flow statement as

cash flows from financing activities.

CASH AND BANK BALANCES AND OTHER
CASH FLOW INFORMATION (continued)

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities:

23 BERBOEFRREMRESRESR

(&)
Wik + (41)

AT SRAT W BL B $ 48 1 SRAT I ) A 42K
I B, o AR IRAE M B AR
AR PR 45 1 2 A K o SRR AR W]
AR R ARG FZ A o SRAT S5 BR AR OR
AL 90 B0 R B T A B R Z BRAT o

(b)

(c)  FE I B BT EE A B BB I A

TR AT G R B A R
b > BHE K B BlE iR AR %L - @l
A T A B B B R AR B
B 421 T T B I A B i AR R A
T S ) P R B AR A

Total bank

borrowings

HUT A AR AR

US$’000

B

At 1 January 2022 BB AE—H—H 42,612
Changes from financing activities cash flow: MBS RS -

Proceeds from bank borrowings SRATAE AR T A K IEH 59,433

Repayment of bank borrowings B R AT (49,048)

Total changes from financing activities cash flows il B U e AR ) 52,9917

Exchange realignment iEE 5, 3 % (3,895)

At 31 December 2022 and M-+ _H=+—HRK

1 January 2023 R -=H—H—H 49,102
Changes from financing activities cash flow: A SRS -

Proceeds from bank borrowings SRAT A 3K B 45 3k 0H 92,968

Repayment of bank borrowings MR ERATAE K (62,743)

Total changes from financing activities cash flows il B U AR ) 79,321

Exchange realignment EE 5, 7 % (1,159)

At 31 December 2023 REFZ=4+T A=+ R 78,168
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Notes to the Financial Statements
B 7% 3R & M 5

Year ended 31 December 2023 RE X =4+ _H=+—HILF)¥

24 TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES 24 BERESRIREE
An aging analysis of the Group’s trade and bills payables as at AR [ RS e R A B 5 MRk R R R
the end of the reporting period, based on the date of receipt of B AT (DA B 2 BESE) I F -
goods, is as follows:
2023 2022
US$’000 US$’000
L FIL B n
60 days or below 60HE AT 22,247 15,535
61 to 180 days 61%180H 2,113 2,592
Over 180 days ZJ*180H 592 689
24,952 18,816
25 OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 25 HtENSERIRFERER
2023 2022
US$’000 US$’000
E Ve FL T
Contract liabilities GHAME 3,055 2,847
Accruals HREM 4,369 3,611
Other payables At JBE A B 3k 6,290 11,199
13,714 17,657

As at 31 December 2023, the Group has contract liabilities
of US$3,055,000 (2022: US$2,847,000), which represents
the obligation to transfer goods to customers for which the

consideration has been received.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, there was a
decrease of US$2,847,000 in the contract liabilities (2022:
US$1,434,000) as a result of recognising revenue and an
increase in contract liabilities of US$3,055,000 (2022:
US$2,401,000) was recognised as a result of deposits received

prior to goods delivery.

Included in the Group’s other payables and accruals as at 31
December 2023 were an aggregate amounts of US$1,827,000
(2022: US$341,000) due to related companies. The balances
with related companies are unsecured, interest-free and have

no fixed terms of repayment.
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CHIA TAI ENTERPRISES INTERNATIONAL LIMITED
E K f&© ¥ B AR & A

Notes to the Financial Statements

B 7% R 3R MY EE
Year ended 31 December 2023 B E “F =4+ H =+ —H L4
26 BANK BORROWINGS 26 SRITER
2023 2022
Note US$’000 US$’000
Mt F L FiL FLFo
Bank loans, secured A G SR AT A5 3K (a) 21,678 18,269
Bank loans, unsecured I 3K 9 SR AT A K 56,490 30,833
Total bank borrowings SRAT A s AE AR (b), (c) 78,168 49,102
Analysed into amounts repayable: R SR 5
Within one year or on demand —4E N B IR R 58,118 36,844
In the second year P P 8,833 11,875
In the third to fifth year W= 11,217 383
Total bank borrowings SRAT G s AR5 78,168 49,102
Portion classified as current liabilities 43 880 % T B0 BB A (58,118) (36,844)
Non-current portion IE 7 B B4 20,050 12,258
Notes: Mt -
(a) At 31 December 2023, certain of the Group’s property, plant (a) R-FZ=H+H=+—H » KEHZ
and equipment of US$29,105,000 (2022: US$8,824,000) (note HTE - M5 291058 %0 (=
14(a)) and land lease prepayments of US$4,693,000 (2022: T 1882480 (M EE14(a)) KT
US$4,924,000) (note 15) were pledged as security for bank R M AR B 469.3 8300 (R AR
borrowings of the Group. 492 48 3% 50) (MRE15) OE 2o A4 SR 4T
Al 3k Z HEAH & o
(b) All the bank borrowings of the Group were denominated in (b) A 2 BT A SRATAS 2k DA R W AR 2 B
RMB. ik o
(c) As at 31 December 2023, none of the covenants relating to (c) R oF =A==+ B EE R
bank borrowings had been breached (2022: nil). 45 BSRAT A sk M 325 (B4R L JE)
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Year ended 31 December 2023 E_F _=FF_H=1—HILFEE
OTHER NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 27 HttFERBHAERE
2023 2022
Y S —E A
US$’000 US$’000
BV ForTx
Non-current portion of deferred income J T Bl 5 4 B 2 AT A A 1,648 2,170
The deferred income of the Group as at 31 December 2023 AEAR __F_Z2FR B FET2NA
and 2022 represented the government grants received and will Z— H BRSO Ky OB Rl B Bt i
be recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the HH R A EE T O R AR 0T DL AR N R 2R
expected useful lives of the relevant assets. e o
DEFERRED TAX 28 EEHIE
The components of the Group’s deferred tax liabilities and AR > A ) 2 R A B B 2 5 B AR
their movements during the year are as follows: W
Dividend
withholding
tax Others Total
Jit B, 11 Bt HAts Ham
Note US$’000 US$’000 US$’000
Mt FoL For FIC T T Fo T
At 1 January 2022 W_ZFZ__4—H—H (3,367) (514) (3,881)
Deferred tax credited/ ENREBZNEF A/ (IR Z B
(charged) to profit or U]
loss during the year 11 958 (173) 785
Exchange realignment EE 50, 3 4% 3 2 5
At 31 December 2022 RZF_Z_F+ZHJ=+—H (2,406) (685) (3,091)
At 1 January 2023 R_F_=4—H—H (2,406) (685) (3,091)
Deferred tax credited/ AR R N EE A (R 2 B
(charged) to profit or HE A3 JE
loss during the year 11 (456) (71) (527)
Exchange realignment i 50, i % 39 9 48
At 31 December 2023 R _-F_=#+"_H=+—H (2,823) (747) (3,570)
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Year ended 31 December 2023 BRE R =4+ _H=+—HIL4F )%
28 DEFERRED TAX (continued)

Notes:

(a)

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10%
withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign
investors from the foreign invested enterprises established
in mainland China. The requirement is effective from 1
January 2008 and applies to earnings after 31 December
2007. Any dividends distributable by the subsidiaries of
the Group established in mainland China in respect of
earnings generated from 1 January 2008 onwards is subject to

withholding taxes.

At 31 December 2023, temporary differences unrecognised
for deferred tax liabilities relating to the undistributed
profits of subsidiaries amounted to US$27,310,000 (2022:
US$28,713,000). Deferred tax liabilities of US$2,731,000
(2022: US$2,871,000) have not been recognised in respect
of the tax that would be payable on the distribution of these
retained profits as it is probable that profits will not be

distributed in the foreseeable future.

X E B ER

28
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B 7% 3R & M EE
Year ended 31 December 2023 E R =4 T _H=1—HIL4)E
29 SHARE CAPITAL 29 B{AX
2023 2022
US$’000 US$’000
Sy FEo T oC
Authorised Wi €
Ordinary shares: 2
787,389,223 shares 787,389,223 1%
(2022: 787,389,223 shares) (B 4F 1 787,389,223 /%)
of US$0.1 each 5 Jie Wi 0. 138 7 78,739 78,739
Conwertible preference shares: A e SR
12,610,777 shares 12,610,777
(2022: 12,610,777 shares) (TR T4 0 12,610,7770%)
of US$0.1 each B Ji I 0. 158 70 1,261 1,261
80,000 80,000
Issued and fully paid CHEITEHR
Ordinary shares: AR
240,718,310 shares 240,718,310/
(2022: 240,718,310 shares) (AR 1 240,718,3100%)
of US$0.1 each B R AEO. 13878 24,072 24,072
Convertible preference shares: B # R F S -
12,610,777 shares 12,610,777
(2022: 12,610,777 shares) (ZF A 112,610,7778)
of US$0.1 each B R AE0. 13878 1,261 1,261
25,333 25,333

There were no movements in the Company’s issued ordinary

shares and convertible preference shares during the years

MBE_R =K _F__H+2H
=+ —HILEEN > RA R C8175EB &

ended 31 December 2023 and 2022. T 0 i 155 S s M e 5 ) o
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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Year ended 31 December 2023 BRE R =4+ _H=+—HIL4F )%
SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

29

Notes:

The convertible preference shares are convertible into ordinary shares

of the Company and are entitled to the same dividends that are

declared for the ordinary shares. Convertible preference shares do not

carry the right to vote in shareholders’ meeting. Upon winding up, the

Company’s residual assets and funds are distributed to the members of

the Company in the following priority:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

in paying to the holders of the convertible preference shares,
pari passu as between themselves by reference to the aggregate
nominal amounts of the convertible preference shares held
by them respectively, an amount equal to the aggregate of
the distribution value (as defined in the bye-laws of the
Company) of all the convertible preference shares held by

them respectively;

the balance of such assets shall be distributed on a pari passu
basis among the holders of any class of shares in the capital
of the Company other than the convertible preference shares
and other than any shares which are not entitled to participate
in such assets, by reference to the aggregate nominal amounts

paid up on the shares held by them respectively; and

the remaining balance of such assets shall belong to and be
distributed on a pari passu basis among the holders of any class
of shares including the convertible preference shares, other
than any shares not entitled to participate in such assets, by
reference to the aggregate nominal amounts of shares held by

them respectively.

The convertible preference shares shall be non-redeemable by the

Company or the holders thereof.

X EBRERA

29
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Bt 5 3R 2k MY &

Year ended 31 December 2023 RE X =4+ _H=+—HILF)¥

30 RESERVES

31

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the
movements therein for the years ended 31 December
2023 and 2022 are presented in the consolidated

statement of changes in equity.

The capital reserve mainly represents: (i) the
amount of the equity interests acquired pursuant to
a group reorganisation in 2015, and (ii) the deemed
contribution arising from the transfer of equity interests

in prior years.

The PRC reserve funds are reserves set aside in
accordance with PRC Companies Law or the Law of
the PRC on Joint Ventures Using Chinese and Foreign
Investment. None of the Group’s PRC reserve funds as
at 31 December 2023 and 2022 were distributable in

the form of cash dividends.

The exchange fluctuation reserve comprises all foreign
exchange differences arising from the translation of the
financial statements of foreign operations. The reserve
is dealt with in accordance with the accounting policies

set out in note 2.4(0).

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

(a)

The Group had the following capital
commitments as at the end of the reporting
period:

Contracted, but not provided for:

Property, plant and machinery

30

31

e

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

EXN BTN E R R
FoOETCAS PRI
AR B B R B 2 5 2

BAGEME L (DR =R AR
42 S I AL P BB o % (i) R AR R
R T Y AR

o 55 L o 20 95 B o
0 £ ¢ B B 4 A o
ARMR RS ER R
TS H 2 R R e
PEEYSESE S

A W 99 T8 £t 0 955 4 B i A1 S 2
o A4 P P P O A O S 2R o o
T W4 B 2.4 (o) T WY & 51 B SRR
@ o

BEAREE

(a)

TR0 > H G AR A Hh #E
Y3k~ WUE MR

FEERBEMR2EREBMOT

2023 2022
SR e et 2
US$°000 US$’000
FILF FIL FIL
6,642 7,178
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Year ended 31 December 2023 B E “F =4+ H =+ —H L4
31 CAPITAL COMMITMENTS (continued) 31 EBEREIE(E)
(b) The Group’s share of capital commitments of (b) AEEELESELEZERKENT:
the joint ventures is as follows:
2023 2022
US$’000 US$’000
Bk o e n
Contracted, but not provided for CLEE A » AH MR A 603 395
32 RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES 32 BEALIEE

(a) Transactions with related parties

The Group had the following transactions with related

parties during the year:

Sales of goods to:
CPP Group®
HOEL and its related entities,
excluding CPP Group®
Other related entities with same
shareholders as CPG
Purchase of goods from:
ITOCHU Corporation and

its subsidiaries®

(a) HEHEEALIHXRES

5
2023
S e
US$’000
EVe
WEEMT
b i AR - 5,654
HOEL M 3 B i A 2 »
NG g 49,074
BLCPGH HH ] B R Z Al
RS 1,819
WEEEMKE -
v B v R A
JL Bt 8 2>\ 823

ACER P4 ) BB A DL R R

2022
SRR
US$°000
FILF L
2,017

34,431

748

75
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Year ended 31 December 2023 RE X =4+ _H=+—HILF)¥

32 RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES 32 BEEALHE(E)
(continued)
(a) Transactions with related parties (continued) (a) EEREALTHRE (&)
Note: Mt :
Prices of goods sold to related parties were determined with i N B B Y B R D R R A R
reference to the cost of raw materials, procurement costs, B ~ BRJGE A ~ A 3G E A B ) T
other value added, reasonable profit margins, market demand R-MGHZEMZTRERAMLE =T
for goods and prices offered by independent third-party B JRE T 42 A3t JA0L 73S T 1 R R R E o B
suppliers of similar products. The procedures for determining T AN B Y R B AR T B E
the prices of goods sold to related parties are the same as 10 28 37 56 = 07 %% 7 436 B W A AR B T
those used for determining the prices of goods supplied to — 5 o [ BN A Y B AR I R A AR
independent third party customers. Selling prices to related [ 4T BB =0 R P 2 AEH o
parties shall be no more favourable than those made available
to independent third parties customers.
Prices and terms of goods purchased from related parties 1 A 2L N S Y S A R Rk U T —
were on normal commercial terms and negotiated between LTES Tl TN YN A S
the Group and related parties on an arm’s length basis JE R E T > DL A 4 B B ST 5 = B E
similar to those transactions which the Group conducts T HEAT B 5E 5 Be ek » B 48 17 VT |l 8 or
with independent third party suppliers and on terms which 5 =05 Bt E T P B T AR T 2 K e
are no less favourable to the Group than those offered by
independent third party suppliers.
# These related party transactions also constituted # 5 N 38 B o b i
continuing connected transactions as defined in FUATENERZFEMER S -
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
(b)  Outstanding balances with related parties (b) EEBAEATZEKRER
Details of the Group’s balances with joint venture, BN R 5 R R
associate and related companies included in trade B8~ TEATEREK - 424 T il B WO HR
and bills receivables, prepayments, deposits and ZASEE B A A BE A E KB
other receivables are disclosed in notes 21 and 22, A F) 2Z [H B AR O 4 i Bl 2R S B R
respectively. 21 %22 -
(c) Compensation of key management personnel (c) EHEBFXEEBAB(THRES) 2M2
who are also directors of the Group
2023 2022
US$’000 US$’000
6 F L F LT T
Short term employee benefits 55108 B R A 1,146 1,220
ANNUAL REPORT 2023
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33

B AR A

B

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 33 BMERKBEESSRBE
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
The Group has exposed to the following risks: A4 E i DL R
(a) Interest rate risk (a) EXER
The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk relates A A5 i R R R B 0 R R A AR AR
primarily to the Group’s debt obligations. The Group M 2 B H AT o A< 4R [ O i 4 A 2R
does not use derivative financial instruments to hedge Sxiph oy B P I B R E R A o AR
its interest rate risk. The Group’s exposure to market RS AR A i 5| BB K B
risk arising from changes in interest rates in respect Wy 2 i 35 R\ i A ) M A o
of cash and cash equivalents is considered relatively
minimal.
The following table sets out the carrying amounts AR A5 [ 5 i 16 300 R T S R R L B = SR
of the Group’s bank borrowings as at the end of the R B IR RS T
reporting period that are exposed to interest rate risk:
2023 2022
Carrying Effective Carrying Effective
amount  interest rate amount interest rate
JUSTE R ey i IR R BB R
US$’000 % US$’000 %
FIL T T Fo T
Fixed rate denominated in: &R RIZLTE
W T BLAL
RMB N 40,960 3.95 26,849 4.71
Floating rate denominated ¥FBIA HK4%DL &
in: W Ky HLAL
RMB N 37,208 4.02 22,254 4.53

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a
reasonably possible change in interest rates, through
the impact on floating rate bank borrowings, of the
Group’s profit after tax and equity (with all other

variables held constant):
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33 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

(a)

(b)

33

B35 L B B 5 g R B ()

Interest rate risk (continued) (a) BEEEK(E)
2023 2022
Increase/ Increase/
(decrease) in (decrease) in
profit after tax  profit after tax
and equity and equity
B Bt & b Bl A%
e A i 1 &
BE 25 3% HE 2SI
(W) (W)
US$’000 US$’000
F L Fi FILFIL
Increase by 100 basis points 41003 2 (247) (189)
Decrease by 100 basis points WA 1005 2 247 189
Credit risk (b) FEERE

The Group places its cash deposits with a number
of major banks. This cash management policy limits
the Group’s exposure to concentration of credit risk.
Impairment on cash and cash equivalents has been
measured on 12-month ECLs. The Group considers
that its cash and cash equivalents have minimal
credit risk based on the external credit ratings of the
counterparties (i.e. banks and financial institutions

where cash and cash equivalents are placed).

The Group performs ongoing credit evaluations of its
customers’ financial conditions for its trade and bills
receivables. Appropriate allowances for estimated
irrecoverable amounts are recognised in profit or loss
when there is objective evidence that the asset is
impaired. The allowance recognised is measured as the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
present value of estimated future cash flows discounted
at the effective interest rate computed at initial

recognition.
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Year ended 31 December 2023 B E _F =4+ _H=+—HILEE

33 FINA

NCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

(b)

Credit risk (continued)

The Group measures loss allowances for trade
receivables at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, which,
except for amounts due from customers with known
financial difficulties or significant doubt on collection
that are assessed individually, is calculated using a
provision matrix. Accordingly, the Group recognised
credit loss allowance of US$54,000 for several
customers with significant doubt on collection that is
individually impaired for the year ended 31 December
2023 (2022: US$158,000). As the Group’s historical
credit loss experience does not indicate significantly
different loss patterns for different customer segments,
the loss allowance based on past due status is not
further distinguished between the Group’s different
customer bases. The Group assessed that there is no
significant loss allowance recognised in accordance
with IFRS 9 as at 31 December 2023 and 2022 and no
ECL rate has therefore been disclosed.

The Group considered that the entire trade receivable
balances have the same credit risk exposure. The
expected loss rates are based on actual loss experience
over the past five years. These rates are adjusted to
reflect differences between economic conditions during
the period over which the historical data has been
collected, current conditions and the Group’s view of
economic conditions over the expected lives of the

receivables.

B AR A

33
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33 HEEKREESHREK (H)

33 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

(c)

Foreign currency risk

RMB is not freely convertible into foreign currencies.
All foreign exchange transactions are conducted with
reference to the exchange rates quoted by the People’s
Bank of China. Payments for imported materials and
remittance of earnings out of mainland China are

subject to the availability of foreign currencies.

Export sales of the Group are conducted primarily
in US$. For certain subsidiaries, joint venture and
associate, funds denominated in RMB may have to
be, and from time to time are, converted into US$ or
other foreign currencies for the purchase of imported

materials and equipment.

Should RMB appreciate/depreciate against US$, it may
reduce/increase the foreign currency equivalent of such
earnings available for distribution by these subsidiaries,

joint venture and associate of the Company.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at
the end of the reporting period to a possible change
in RMB exchange rates, with all other variables held
constant, of the Group’s profit before tax and equity
(due to changes in the fair value of monetary assets
and liabilities of the Group’s foreign subsidiaries). The
analysis excludes differences that would result from
the translation of the financial statement of foreign

operations into the Group’s presentation currency.
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33 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

(c) Foreign currency risk (continued)

33

(c) SEREER ()

Appreciation/

(depreciation) in

Increase/

(decrease) in

B L B B D g R B ()

Increase/

(decrease) in

RMB  profit before tax equity
AR¥ W3 B i 3 i 5
THE/ (B2 1H) W,/ (W) B,/ (W)
US$’000 US$'000
FIL T FETL T
Year ended 31 December 2023 BEZR_=4
TZA=Z+T—HEEE
If US$ weakens against RMB fifi TN R M 3% (486) (413)
If US$ strengthens against RMB BN YN Figit (3%) 486 413
Year ended 31 December 2022 BEZECOE
+ZAZEF R
If US$ weakens against RMB fifi o A R iz M 3% (478) (406)
If US$ strengthens against RMB fi e A R THE (3%) 478 406
(d)  Liquidity risk (d RBESER
The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between A SR VB 1 H R 55 ) A R A

funding continuity and flexibility through the use of

various types of bank borrowings.

The Group monitors current and expected liquidity
requirements to ensure that it maintains sufficient
reserves of cash and bank facilities to meet its liquidity

requirements.
The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities

as at the end of the reporting period, based on the

contractual undiscounted payments, was as follows:
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33 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 33 BHHXEKREESSREE(E)
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
(d) Liquidity risk (continued) (dy RBEESEE (&)
At 31 December 2023 WR_E_=Z4AT-H=Z1+—H
Within 1
year or on 1to5
demand years Total
YRk
Ak — A —ZEHAE ko]

US$’000  US$’000  US$’000
Xt FrTrx HKuaTr

Trade and bills payables FEAT B 5 Wk ak T 52 24,952 - 24,952
Other payables and accruals JH At JE A MR 5k T AR 8 10,659 - 10,659
Bank borrowings AT R K 58,118 20,050 78,168
Estimated interests on bank borrowings it 5t SRAT B 3R] B 2,307 808 3,115
96,036 20,858 116,894
At 31 December 2022 wW_F__#+_-_H=+—H
Within 1
year or on
demand 1 to 5 years Total
Bh—E —E2LE R

US$°000 US$°000 US$°000
FKrTtrx FrTrn KrLTrx

Trade payables JE A B 5 Wk 18,816 - 18,816
Other payables and accruals At A Wk B THU AR B 14,810 - 14,810
Bank borrowings SRATME K 36,844 12,258 49,102
Estimated interests on bank borrowings Al T SRATAE 3R B 1,699 573 2,272

72,169 12,831 85,000
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33 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 33

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

(e)

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital
management are to safeguard the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern and to maintain healthy
capital ratios in order to support its business and

maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic
conditions. To maintain or adjust the capital structure,
the Group may adjust the dividend payment to
shareholders or issue new shares. The Group is not

subject to any externally imposed capital requirements.
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 34 ZXATHEBEARREK
THE COMPANY
2023 2022
SRR SRR
US$’°000 US$’000
ES FEoLFoo
NON-CURRENT ASSET I o B B
Interests in subsidiaries T B B 4 ) R 25 23,654 23,654
CURRENT ASSETS i B B
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables FAIREK ~ e R
JL Al JE WL M 3k 116 42
Cash and cash equivalents Ble Bl &S MY 24,932 21,541
Total current assets B B 25,048 21,583
CURRENT LIABILITY B A E
Other payables and accruals b A Wk K TR B 4,821 2,734
NET CURRENT ASSETS R g 20,227 18,849
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT HEE E WU B B 1R
LIABILITIES 43,881 42,503
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES Ik I B £ 4%
Other non-current liabilities o Ath I 37 B A 2 19
NET ASSETS & R 43,879 42,484
EQUITY i 25
Issued capital CEAT R A 25,333 25,333
Reserves (note) Tttt (KAL) 18,546 17,151
TOTAL EQUITY BE 25 A 43,879 42,484
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34 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 34 ZARQRWEBEARRE ()
THE COMPANY (continued)

Note: Mt
A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: ARAF Z R T
Exchange
fluctuation
Retained profits reserve Total
A 43 LA A BE Dk ) £ 1 sk
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000
S on FKITLTFIT ES e
At 1 January 2022 RE-RZ_4—H—H 18,497 27 18,524
Loss for the year KA ER (1,373) - (1,373)
At 31 December 2022 and 1 January WR_F "4+ _H=+—HK
2023 ZR=EF—A—H 17,124 27 17,151

Profit for the year AR 1,395 - 1,395
At 31 December 2023 RORTE=AT A=+ —H 18,519 27 18,546
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